
PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (BOT) 
WILL HOLD A PUBLIC HEARING AT THE MESILLA TOWN HALL 

2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 
MONDAY- NOVEMBER 25, 2024 

AT 5:00 PM 

SHORT-TERM RENTAL (STR) ORDINANCE 
A proposed short-term rental ordinance is being proposed for adoption into our Municipal Code 

by staff and the STR Ad Hoc Committee. Ordinance will serve to improve short-term rental 
regulations, online platforms and Lodger’s Tax accountability. 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (BOT) OF THE TOWN OF MESILLA 

REGULAR MEETING AT THE MESILLA TOWN HALL, 
2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25, 2024 ~ IMMEDIATELY 
FOLLOWING 5PM PUBLIC HEARING ~ 

AGENDA 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM

3. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA & APPROVAL

4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA: (The Board will be asked to approve by one motion the
following items of recurring or routine business. The Consent Agenda is marked with an asterisk *)

a. BOT MINUTES – Minutes of BOT Meeting – 11.12.2024
b. APPROVAL:  Blue Star Memorial by-way Marker at Veterans Park
c. APPROVAL:  PZHAC CASE #061914 – 2260 Calle de Santiago, submitted by Bill &

Janice Cook.  Requesting approval to build a wire fence dog run with gate, 48”x50’ long.
Zone:  Historical Commercial (HC)

d. APPROVAL:  PZHAC CASE #061917 – 2341 Calle de Arroyo, Submitted by Taylor
Family Trust.  Requesting approval to enclose front porch with windows & doors.  Zone:
Historical Commercial (HC)

e. APPROVAL:  PZHAC CASE #06919 – 1996 Calle de Santiago, submitted by David
Ray Rosales.  Requesting approval to upgrade balcony square tubing fence.  Not up to
code and rusted and needs painting.  Zone:  Historical Commercial (HC)

5. PUBLIC INPUT ON CASES  – The public is invited to address the Board as allowed by the
chair.

1



PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 

6. ACTION AND CONSIDERATION
OLD BUSINESS
a. APPROVAL: PZHAC CASE #061823 with Condition – 2450 Calle de Principal,  submitted

by Felix Armijo. Requesting approval to construct a 30’ x 36’ structure on the property for the
purpose of operating 2 short-term rental units. This case decision by PZHAC appealed to BOT.

b. APPROVAL: PZHAC SUP CASE #061909 – 320 W University, submitted by Sylvia
D’Andrea. Requesting approval to operate a winery/wine tasting/social gathering hall.
ZONE: Rural Farm (RF).

NEW BUSINESS 
c. DISCUSSION ONLY:  For process related to purchases made by departments and

authority/approval 

d. APPROVAL:  Website Design Services Agreement (handed out at meeting)

7. PUBLIC INPUT – The public is invited to address the Board as allowed by the chair.

8. CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION:
a) Discussion of limited personnel matters pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1(H)(2) -
- Community & Economic Development Department – Historic Preservation

b) APPROVAL: Any actions that may arise as a result of discussions in closed session -
- Open Position: Historic Preservation

9. BOARD OF TRUSTEE COMMITTEE REPORTS

10. BOARD OF TRUSTEE/STAFF COMMENTS

11. ADJOURNMENT

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (BOT)  
OF THE TOWN OF MESILLA 

WILL HOLD A WORKSESSION AT THE MESILLA TOWN HALL, 
 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 

Monday, NOVEMBER 21, 2024  
~ Immediately Following Regular Scheduled Meeting ~ 

AGENDA 
Discussion Items: 

1. Review of STR (Short-Term Rental) Ordinance
A proposed short-term rental ordinance is being proposed for adoption into our Municipal 

Code by staff and the STR Ad Hoc Committee. Ordinance will serve to improve short-
term rental regulations, online platforms and Lodger’s Tax accountability. 

2



 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

2. Initial Planning overview and feedback for Comprehensive Plan  
being completed by Sites Southwest 

 
Items are for the work session are for discussion only, no decisions will be made 

 
 

NOTICE 
If you need accommodation for a disability to enable you to fully participate in the hearing or meeting, please contact us at 
524-3262 at least one week prior to the meeting. The Mayor and Trustees request that all cell phones be turned off or set to 
vibrate. Members of the audience are requested to step outside the Board Room to respond to or to conduct a phone 
conversation. A copy of the agenda can be found online at www.mesillanm.gov. 
 

Posted 11.21.2024 online and at the following locations:  Town Hall and Visitor’s Center Avenida de Mesilla, Public Safety 
Building 2670 Calle de Parian, Mesilla Community Center 2251 Calle de Santiago, Short’s Food Mart 2290 Avenida de 
Mesilla, and the U.S. Post Office 2253 Calle de Parian.   

3

http://www.mesillanm.gov/


 

 
PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046    PH: (575) 524-3262      2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (BOT) 
WILL HOLD A PUBLIC HEARING AT THE MESILLA TOWN HALL 

2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 
MONDAY- NOVEMBER 25, 2024 

AT 5:00 PM 
SHORT-TERM RENTAL (STR) ORDINANCE 

 
 

A proposed short-term rental ordinance is being proposed for adoption into our Municipal Code 
by staff and the STR Ad Hoc Committee. Ordinance will serve to improve short-term rental 

regulations, online platforms and Lodger’s Tax accountability. 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE 
If you need accommodation for a disability to enable you to fully participate in the hearing or meeting, please contact us at 
524-3262 at least one week prior to the meeting. The Mayor and Trustees request that all cell phones be turned off or set to 
vibrate. Members of the audience are requested to step outside the Board Room to respond to or to conduct a phone 
conversation. A copy of the agenda can be found online at www.mesillanm.gov. 
 

Posted 10.17.2024 online and at the following locations:  Town Hall and Visitor’s Center Avenida de Mesilla, Public Safety 
Building 2670 Calle de Parian, Mesilla Community Center 2251 Calle de Santiago, Short’s Food Mart 2290 Avenida de 
Mesilla, and the U.S. Post Office 2253 Calle de Parian.   

 
 

4

http://www.mesillanm.gov/


 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

 

 

 

REVISED 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (BOT) OF THE TOWN OF MESILLA 

REGULAR MEETING AT THE MESILLA TOWN HALL, 
2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA 

                         Tuesday, November 12, 2024 – 6:00 P.M. 
MINUTES 

 
 

TRUSTEES:  Russell Hernandez, Mayor   
   Adrianna Merrick, Mayor Pro Tem  
   Biviana Cadena, Trustee  (ABSENT) 
   Stephanie Johnson-Burick, Trustee  
   Gerard Nevarez, Trustee 
 
STAFF:  Lorenzo Astorga, Public Works Director 

Ben Azcarate, Marshal 
Gloria S Maya, Town Clerk/Recorder 

   Edward Salazar, Economic & Community Development Director 
   Greg Whited, Fire Chief 
 
PUBLIC:  Catharine Walkinshaw  Eric Walkinshaw 
   Felix Armijo   Crystal Whited 
   Lori Miller   Susan Krueger 
   Cole Morris   Richard W 
   Adel B    Terry Melendrez 
   Andrea Bryan   Greg Lester 
   Pat Taylor   Mary H Ratje 
   Dosa  
 
 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Mayor Hernandez led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

2. ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM  

Roll Call. 
Present: Mayor Hernandez, Trustee Johnson-Burick, Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Trustee Nevarez 
 

3. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA & APPROVAL 
Trustee Johnson-Burick expressed her concerns regarding items 6 a. and 6 h. 
 
Mayor Hernandez reviewed the process that was followed.   
 
Motion:  To approve agenda, Moved by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Nevarez.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 

5



 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 

 
4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA: (The Board will be asked to approve by one motion the 

following items of recurring or routine business. The Consent Agenda is marked with an asterisk *) 
a)  APPROVAL: BOT MINUTES – Minutes of BOT Meeting – 10.30.2024 
b)  APPROVAL:  PZHAC STR BUSINESS #1282 – 2551 Calle de Parian, submitted by    

Melanie Goodman.  Requesting approval to operate short-term rental. ZONE: Historical 
Residential (HR). 

Motion:  To approve consent agenda, Moved by Trustee Nevarez, Seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick.   
 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
5. PUBLIC INPUT ON CASES  – The public is invited to address the Board as allowed by the 

chair. 
Mayor Hernandez stated he received two (2) emails that will be included in the minutes. 
 
Trustees stated that they received an email that needs to be included in the minutes. 
 
Ms. Walkinshaw commented on the STR and on item 6 b. 
 
Ms. Krueger commented on item 6 b. 
 

6. ACTION AND CONSIDERATION 
NEW BUSINESS 
a. APPROVAL:  PZHAC CASE #061823 with Condition – 2450 Calle de Principal, 

submitted by Felix Armijo. Requesting approval to construct a 30’ x 36’ structure on the 
property for the purpose of operating 2 short-term rental units. This case decision by 
PZHAC appealed to BOT. BOT decision was to have case reheard by PZHAC and have 
full commission vote as to avoid having a 2-2 vote. ZONE: Historical Commercial (HC). 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick recused herself.   
 
Mr. Salazar gave an update. 
 
Motion:  To postpone the approval of PZHAC Case #06182 – 2450 Calle de Principal, submitted by Felix 
Armijo. Requesting approval to construct a 30’ x 36’ structure on the property for the purpose of 
operating two (2) short-term rental units.  This case decision by PZHAC appealed to BOT.  BOT decision 
was to have case reheard by PZHAC and have full commission vote as to avoid have a 2-2 vote.  ZONE:  
Historical Commercial (HC), Moved by Trustee Nevarez, Seconded by Trustee Johnson-Burick.     
 
Trustees commented on the case and the process.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-2) 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

b. APPROVAL:  PZHAC SUP CASE #061909 – 320 W University, submitted by Sylvia 
D’Andrea. Requesting approval to operate a winery/wine tasting/social gathering hall. 
ZONE: Rural Farm (RF). 

Mr. Salazar gave an update.   
 

6



 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

Motion:  To approve PZHAC SUP Case #061909 – 320 W University, submitted by Sylvia D’Andrea.  
Requesting approval to operate a winery/wine tasting/social gathering hall.  ZONE:  Rural Farm (RF), 
Moved by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Nevarez.   
 
Trustees commented on the case and the process.  
 
Motion:  To postpone PZHAC SUP Case #061909 – 320 W University, submitted by Sylvia D’Andrea.  
Requesting approval to operate a winery/wine tasting/social gathering hall.  ZONE:  Rural Farm (RF), 
Moved by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Nevarez.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-2; No-1) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    No 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

c. APPROVAL:  PZHAC CASE #061913 with Condition – 2342 Calle de Arroyo, 
submitted by Julie Fitzsimmons. Requesting approval to restore structure on property. A 
work session was scheduled according to MTC 18.33-Historic Preservation requirements. 
ZONE: Historical Residential (HR). 

Mr. Salazar gave an update.  
 
Motion:  To approve PZHAC Case #061913 with Condition – 2342 Calle de Arroyo, submitted by Julie 
Fitzsimmons.  Requesting approval to restore structure on property.  A work session was scheduled 
according to MTC 18.33-Historic Preservation requirements.  ZONE:  Historical Residential (HR),  
Moved by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Nevarez.   
 
Trustee Nevarez commented on the case.  
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

d.       APPROVAL:  Resolution 2025-10 FY2024-2025 Budget Adjustment #1  
Motion:  To approve Resolution 2025-10 FY2024-2025 Budget Adjustment #1, Moved by Mayor Pro Tem 
Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Nevarez.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

e.       APPROVAL:  Resolution 2025-11 Public Auction of Equipment 
Motion:  To approve Resolution 2025-11 Public Auction of Equipment, Moved by Mayor Pro Tem 
Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Johnson-Burick.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

f.       APPROVAL:  Resolution 2025-12 Capital Asset Inventory Certification 
Motion:  To approve Resolution 2025-12 Capital Asset Inventory Certification, Moved by Mayor Pro Tem 
Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Johnson-Burick.   

7



 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

g.       APPROVAL:  Resolution 2025-13 FF/EMS Recruitment Agreement 24-ZI5036-34 
Motion:  To approve Resolution 2025-12 FF/EMS Recruitment Agreement 24-ZI5036-34, Moved by 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, Seconded by Trustee Johnson-Burick.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-3) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    Yes 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 
 

h. APPROVAL:  Resolution 2025-14 Rezone Case #61870  
Motion:  To approve Resolution 2025-14 Rezone Case #061870, Moved by Mayor Pro Tem Merrick, 
Seconded by Trustee Johnson-Burick.   
 
Trustees commented on the case and the process.   
 
Roll Call Vote:  Motion passed (summary:  Yes-2; No-1) 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick   Yes 
Trustee Johnson-Burick    No 
Trustee Nevarez                Yes 

 
7. PUBLIC INPUT – The public is invited to address the Board as allowed by the chair.   

Mr. Taylor commented on Don Felix and Comprehensive Plan. 
 

8. BOARD OF TRUSTEE COMMITTEE REPORTS 
Trustee Johnson-Burick:  MPO Wednesday, 1:00 p.m. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Merrick:  MPO Wednesday, 1:00 p.m. 
 
Mayor Hernandez:  Friends of the Taylor  Family Monument Wednesday, Ad Hoc Meeting 

 
9. BOARD OF TRUSTEE/STAFF COMMENTS 

(WRITTEN STAFF REPORTS INCLUDED IN PACKETS) 

Marshal Azcarate gave a department update. 

 

Mr. Astorga gave a department (Public Works) update. 

 

Mayor Hernandez gave an update on the Ave de Mesilla road work.   

 

Mr. Salazar gave a department (Economic & Community Development) update. 

 

Ms. Maya gave a department (Finance) update. 

 

Trustee Nevarez asked about crosswalks on Ave de Mesilla. 
8



 

PO BOX 10, MESILLA, NM 88046 PH: (575) 524-3262 2231 AVENIDA DE MESILLA  

 

Trustee Johnson-Burick stated her concerns and questions.   

 

Mayor Pro Tem Merrick commented on events and things happening around town. 

 

Mayor Hernandez gave an update.   

 
11. ADJOURNMENT  

The Town of Mesilla Trustees unanimously agreed to adjourn the meeting. (Summary:  Yes-3). 
 

MEETING ADJOURNED AT 8:11 P.M.  
 
APPROVED THIS 25th DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2024        
 
 
              ____________________________         
                                                                                  Russell Hernandez  

                  Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Gloria S. Maya 
Town Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 

**BOT MEETINGS ARE AVAILABLE ON TOWN OF MESILLA’S YOUTUBE PAGE** 
 
 
 
 

 

9



10



11



12



13



14



15



DETERMINATION NOTES

Approved without conditions 5 - 0.

����������

16



����������

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



BOARD ACTION FORM 
AGENDA DATE 

PZHAC: 11/18/2024 

DAC ACCOUNT #R0401272 
BLDG CODE - AC 
EVALUATION COST- $12,000 
FEE - $198.50 

BOT: 

ITEM: PZHAC CASE #061917 -2341 Calle de Arroyo, submitted by Taylor Family Trust. 
Requesting approval to enclose front porch with windows and doors. ZONE: Historical Commercial 
(HC). 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS: 
Existing front porch is in good condition and there is no need for repairs. The building is listed in our 
historic registry and considered to be a significant building. The porch attached to the building is not 
listed under our historical registry. It was added at a later date. 

#118. The.front portion of this property consists of the present Mesilla Book Center, a store specializing 
in books dealing with the Southwest. It occupies the southern half of the 
building known as the Reynolds/Griggs store. This commercial building.fronts the street and faces the 
plaza as do the adjacent buildings to the north and south. The parapet is pedimented, and the wood frame 
windows are also topped by pediments. A zaguan leads from the street on the south side of the. business 
into an interior patio where the various rooms of the residence in back of the store open into it. This 
residence belonged to Edgar Griggs who was a partner in the Reynolds/Grigg-s food and dry goods store 
that was in the.front. Probably many of these-walls date.from the early 1850's. (S) 

A work session was scheduled with PZHAC on I 1/18/2024, before the scheduled regular session. 

IMPACT: 
• The PZHAC has jurisdiction to recommend approval of the applicant's request for approval of

this request to the BOT.
• The applicant has the authority to make an application request to the PZHAC and BOT.
• The applicant has the authority to appeal the decision from PZHAC to BOT.

ALTERNATIVES: 
The Planning, Zoning and Historical Appropriateness Commission (PZHAC) may: 

l. Recommend approval of this case with findings stated above.
2. Recommend approval of this case with findings stated above and conditions.
3. Deny the application.

DEPARTMENT COMMENTS: 
• MTC 18.33.080 - requires a historical appropriateness permit to be obtained before any

consideration be given to a registered historic building.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: 
• Application
• Elevations
• Floor Plan
• Site Plan/Property Plat

Lorenzo Astorga 

Greg Whited 

Thomas Maese 

Eddie Salazar 

DETERMINATION NOTES
Approved without conditions 5-0.

24



11/18/2024

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



DETERMINATION NOTES
Approved 5-0, condition set
Must allow a plaque/sign of 
some sort commemorate 
previous historic site in front 
of property for public to see.

��/��/�0����/�/�0��

38



#OARD A$TION 'ORM 	$ONT


��/��/�0�� #05 M&&5*/(
--1ostponed consideration for more information.
--/M $ultural Affairs email added to pacLet regarding recommendations
--Meeting will Michael 5aylor regarding best practice to preserve the site which is to bury it as it 
was. 
--4uggestion to follow historic preservation process listed in title ��.��.��0-demolition. %emolition 
process regulates demolishing a structure and requiring a structural engineer to verify structure is 
no longer repairable. 5here is no structure on property to demolish. 

39



40



41



42



43



44



45



Community Developement <comdev@mesillanm.gov>

2450 Calle de Principal, Mesilla - Questions
McWilliams, Karla, DCA <Karla.McWilliams@dca.nm.gov> Thu, Jun 27, 2024 at 12:29 PM
To: Community Developement <comdev@mesillanm.gov>
Cc: "Ensey, Michelle, DCA" <michelle.ensey@dca.nm.gov>

Hi Mr. Salazar,

Thanks for sending the informa�on. I have reviewed it and have confirmed that the property loca�on is within the Town of Mesilla’s H-C Historical Commercial area.  The property is also
located within the La Mesilla Historic District, listed in the State Register of Cultural Proper�es and the Na�onal Register of Historic Places. 

Because there is no state or federal funding the Historic Preserva�on Division is not required to review this property for compliance with state/federal preserva�on laws.  HPD staff is
providing guidance with regard to the Town of Mesilla’s historic preserva�on ordinance, Chapter 18.06 “Planning, Zoning and Historical Appropriateness Commission.” 

The Town’s ordinance states the following (not direct quotes):

18.06.080 Du�es Powers, 3. Review and recommend approval/disapproval of applica�ons for building permits within the historical zones.

18.06.110 Review of applica�ons within Historical and General Commercial zones – Considera�ons. 

A. All applica�ons for work in the Historic zones (not subject to administra�ve approval) shall be reviewed by PZHAC.  The commission shall determine whether the request
involved will be appropriate for the purposes of this �tle. 

B. In reviewing an applica�on PZHAC shall consider:

1. The historical and literary value and significance of the site, building, or structure;

2. The general design, arrangement texture, material and color of the features;

3. The rela�on of such factors to similar factors or sites, buildings and structures in the immediate surrounds; and

4. The appropriateness of the size and shape of the building or structure in rela�on to:

a. the land area upon which the building or structure is situated,

b. the landscaping and plan�ng features proposed,

c. the neighboring sites, buildings or structures within the historical district.

5. Applicable zoning and other laws of the town.

For many historic preserva�on commissions, the challenge of building new within a listed historic district can be daun�ng.  Most preserva�on commissions u�lize the guidelines of the
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Proper�es - this is refenced in Mesilla’s code, 18.33.110 Standards for altera�ons.  A few of the standards are worth
no�ng (paraphrased herein):

3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its �me, place and use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, adding of conjectural features or
elements from other historical proper�es, should not be undertaken. 

9. New construc�on should not destroy historical materials, features, and special rela�onships that characterize the property. 

10. New construc�on should be undertaken in a manner that if removed in the future, the form and integrity of the property and environment will be unimpaired.

In conclusion a few points:

New construc�on should respect the historic district and its surrounding buildings in massing and height.  Consider a design that reflects the height and width of surrounding
buildings and u�lizes a similar rhythm in façade design (number of windows to wall space). 
New construc�on should not include architectural details from historic buildings in its design but be representa�ve of current building styles.  Consider a design that u�lizes
modern materials reflec�ng construc�on in today’s world. 

Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilita�on

https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-standards-rehabilitation.htm

A few websites to consider:        

New Construc�on within the boundaries of historic proper�es – Na�onal Park Service

https://www.nps.gov/subjects/taxincentives/new-construction-in-historic-properties.htm

Appropriate New Construc�on in Historic Districts

https://wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS4172

11/21/24, 1:41 PM Town of Mesilla Mail - 2450 Calle de Principal, Mesilla - Questions

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=bd0f0a147e&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f:1803040066071048460&simpl=msg-f:1803040066071048460 1/2
46

https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-standards-rehabilitation.htm
https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-standards-rehabilitation.htm
https://www.nps.gov/articles/000/treatment-standards-rehabilitation.htm
https://www.nps.gov/subjects/taxincentives/new-construction-in-historic-properties.htm
https://www.nps.gov/subjects/taxincentives/new-construction-in-historic-properties.htm
https://www.nps.gov/subjects/taxincentives/new-construction-in-historic-properties.htm
https://www.nps.gov/subjects/taxincentives/new-construction-in-historic-properties.htm
https://wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS4172
https://wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS4172


Feel free to reach out if you have addi�onal ques�ons.

 

Best,

Karla

 

 

Karla K. McWilliams

Historian, HPD

Phone: 505.827.4451

Email: karla.mcwilliams@dca.nm.gov

Facebook   YouTube

 

 

From: Community Developement <comdev@mesillanm.gov>
Sent: Thursday, June 27, 2024 11:08 AM
To: McWilliams, Karla, DCA <Karla.McWilliams@dca.nm.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: 2450 Calle de Principal, Mesilla - Ques�ons

 

CAUTION: This email originated outside of our organization. Exercise caution prior to clicking on links or opening attachments.

The property was issued a new address.  Dona Ana county account number R0400315. Thank you for any advice:)

[Quoted text hidden]

mesilla zoning map.pdf
600K

11/21/24, 1:41 PM Town of Mesilla Mail - 2450 Calle de Principal, Mesilla - Questions

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=bd0f0a147e&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f:1803040066071048460&simpl=msg-f:1803040066071048460 2/2
47

mailto:karla.mcwilliams@dca.nm.gov
https://www.facebook.com/nmhistoricpreservation
https://www.youtube.com/@newmexicohistoricpreservat8603
mailto:comdev@mesillanm.gov
mailto:Karla.McWilliams@dca.nm.gov
https://www.google.com/maps/search/2450+Calle+de+Principal,+Mesilla?entry=gmail&source=g
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=bd0f0a147e&view=att&th=1905af631df6310c&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=bd0f0a147e&view=att&th=1905af631df6310c&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw


48



49



50



BOARD ACTION FORM 
AGENDA DATE 

PZHAC: 11/4/2024 

DAC ACCOUNT #0401303 
BLDG CODE - SUP 
EVALUATION COST-N/ A 
FEE -$310 

BOT: 11/25/2024 

ITEM: SUP CASE #061909 - 320 W University, submitted by Sylvia D' Andrea. 
Requesting approval for a special use permit (SUP) under section 18.20.030(A)-Cottage 
Industry. ZONE: RURAL FARM (RF). 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS: 
Mrs. D' Andrea currently has a restaurant "Luna Rossa Winery & Pizzeria" just outside Town of 
Mesilla's jurisdiction. Mrs. D' Andrea also has a vineyard in Deming, NM. 

Mrs. D' Andrea is looking to purchase the property, 320 W University. According to Dona Ana 
County parcel map, this property is 6.28 acres. It is the last parcel inside Mesilla jurisdiction on 
University Ave which is also New Mexico State Rd. 101. Mrs. It is in a rural farm zone (RF). 
D' Andrea is applying for a SUP before she invests time and money. 

The property has a residential house and a detached metal building. Mrs. D' Andrea herself or a 
family member will be living in this residential home. The metal building is being proposed to 
host wine tasting, wine packaging, and social gathering. It is thought about a small-scale micro
winery to be operated in the future. 

I work session was held on September 30, 2024 with the Planning and Zoning Historical 
Appropriateness Commission (PZHAC). At that time, only 3 commissioners attended, the 
applicant and architectural designer, NM CID chief inspector and Community Development 
staff. 

Take-aways from the work session were under Mesilla Town Code 18.20.030(B)- property 
would not meat the 500 feet requirement as stated was a concern. Reviewing application and 
Mesilla Town Code, it was found the request better fitted under 18.20.030(A)-cottages. 

Definition of a cottage industry as per Investopedia.com and many other online searches: 

A cottage industry is a small manufacturing operation and is often run out of a home by a single 
individual or a family. 

Food Cottages as defined in several searches online to include NM Environmental Dept: 
Many states regulate "cottage food, 11 meaning food made in a home kitchen for sale. New Mexico allows 
the sale of all shelf-stable foods that do not require refrigeration. The 2021 Homemade Food Act does 
not list specific products, but generally authorizes "baking, cooking, cutting, dehydrating, drying, 
fermenting, growing, mixing, preserving, raising or other process. 11 The description covers baked goods 
and most types of candy, dry goods, pastries, jams, jellies, granola and nonalcoholic beverages. 

51



ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
--Applicant will be removing some old/sick trees and adding a small vineyard.
--Community involvement to include educate community in wine making process.
--In tIe wine industry a winery producing less tIan ����� cases annually is considered a boutiRue 
winery. OtIer terms associated witI boutiRue wineries and wines include small-run limited-production 
Iand-craGted and artisanal. 

52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



• sell on the internet
• sell by phone
• ship products made within the state
• deliver by mail, in-person or home pickup
• sell at farmers' markets, festivals, roadside stands

https:// cottag efood laws. co m/new-mexico-cottage-food-laws/ 

A micro-winery can either be at a small farm vineyard is a small wine producer or may 
not have its own vineyard, and instead sources its grape product from outside suppliers. 
The concept is similar to a microbrewery. in that small batches of product are made 
primarily for local consumption.r.m The concept of the micro-winery is not as easily 
accepted as that of the microbrewery, however, as the general public has been 
conditioned to associate a winery as having a vineyard. A winery uses similar wine
making equipment as a major commercial winery, just on a smaller scale. 
Glass carboys and sanitary plastic pails are often seen in the facilities of a micro-winery. 
Typically, each batch of wine yields 23 Liters (6 US gallons). One of the primary 
differences of a micro-winery as compared to a typical winery is that a micro-winery is 
typically able to offer a wider range of wines; as it is not tied to the grapes it grows. New 
York State provides a specific micro-winery license121 that requires the micro-winery to 
purchase local ingredients. 

https:/ /en. wikipedia.org/wiki/Winery#:~:text=A %20micro%2Dwinery%20can%20either, m 
icrowinery%20to%20purchase%20Iocal%20inqredients. 

All across the United States, people are making food at home to sell in their 
communities. Together, they form a small but growing industry-the 
homemade or "cottage food" industry. The movement fits within a larger 
trend toward healthy eating and responsible sourcing, as consumers take 
greater interest in where their food comes from and who makes it. In 2021, 
New Mexico greatly expanded opportunities for cottage food producers in 
2021 with the passage of the Homemade Food Act. 

https://ij.orq/issues/economic-liberty/homemade-food-seller/new
mexico/#:~:text=All%20across%20the%20United%20States,of%20the%20Homemade 
%20Food%20Act. 

New Mexico Environmental Dept brochure (see attached) 

https://www.env.nm.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2021/08/2021-08-16-EHD
Homemade-Food-Act-factsheet.pdf 

https://oconnellfamilywines.com/what-is-a-boutique-wine/#:~:text=In%20the%20wine%
20industry%2C%20a,%2C%20hand%2Dcrafted%20and%20artisanal.

71



72



73



74



75



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

TOWN OF MESILLA 
ORDINANCE 2024 – XX 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MESILLA TITLE 18.53 ZONING- SHORT-TERM 
RENTALS. 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla desired a short-term rental 
(STR) ordinance to reflect rules and regulations in operating a STR; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla has determined that these 
requirements are necessary to benefit the community and visitors in providing lodging 
facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla has determined these 
requirements are necessary to assist with town services and impacts on residential 
neighborhoods posed by STRs; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning and Zoning Historical Appropriateness Commission and the 
Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla have conducted a duly advertised public 
hearing to consider this ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, an Ad Hoc Committee of nine diverse members assisted in data collection, 
held discussions, and proposed recommendations for a STR ordinance to the Planning 
and Zoning Historic Appropriateness Commission/Board of Trustees.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, the Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla 
hereby implements these regulations as follows: 
 

A. PURPOSE  
 
The Board of Trustees of the Town of Mesilla finds and declares as follows: 
 

1. STRs provide community benefit by expanding the number and type of 
lodging facilities available to visitors and provides financial support to the 
Town via Lodger’s tax, GRT, as well as income to the businesses that serve 
STR guests. 

2. STRs are a residential, not commercial, use of the property under the Town of 
Mesilla Municipal Code (MTC).  

3. The provisions of this section are necessary to regulate town services and 
impacts on residential neighborhoods posed by STRs. 

 
B. APPLICABILITY OF REQUIREMENTS  

 
This ordinance applies to all zoning districts within the Town of Mesilla.  These 
requirements shall apply to dwelling units that are rented at some time during the 

76



 

Page 2 of 7 
 

year for a short duration that are not part of a commercial business enterprise such 
as hotels, motels, or commercial lodging. 
 
C. TOTAL ALLOWABLE STR PERMITS 
 
1. The total number of allowable STR permits with the Town of Mesilla shall be 

regulated as follows; 
 
 

HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL (HR) 200’ MEASURED FROM CLOSEST PROPERTY 
LINE TO PROPERTY LINE 

HISTORICAL COMMERCIAL (HC) NO CAP LIMIT OR DISTANCE REQUIREMENT 
COMMERCIAL (C) NO CAP LIMIT OR DISTANCE REQUIREMENT 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1) 200’ MEASURED FROM CLOSEST PROPERTY 

LINE TO PROPERTY LINE 
RESIDENTIAL AGRICULTURE (RA) WITH SPECIAL USE PERMIT (SUP) 
RURAL FARM (RF) WITH SPECIAL USE PERMIT (SUP) 

   
2. Existing short-term rentals that are currently permitted in their location will not be 

affected by the distance requirement after the adoption of this section and a 45-
day grace period will be given for non-permitted STR owners to become 
compliant. 

 
D. DEFINITIONS 
 
For the purposes of this section, the following words and phrases shall have the 
meaning respectively ascribed to them by this subsection: 
 

1. Local Contact Person means an owner, representative of the owner, or local 
property manager who lives in the Town of Mesilla or within proximity of the 
town limits such that they are available to respond within an hour or less to 
tenant and neighborhood questions or concerns and are authorized to 
respond to any violation of this ordinance and take remedial action.  

2. Managing Agency means a person, firm or agency licensed with the New 
Mexico Real Estate Commission representing the owner of the dwelling unit 
or person/agency owning the dwelling unit.  

3. Operator means the person who is proprietor of a dwelling unit, whether in 
the capacity of owner, lessee, sub-lessee, or mortgage in possession.  

4. Owner means the legal owner of the property.  
5. Dwelling Unit means a unit with a sleeping area, bathroom, and possibly 

kitchen for residential use.  
6. Payment means the consideration charged, whether or not received, for the 

occupancy of space in a dwelling unit, valued in money, whether to be 
received in money, goods, labor, or otherwise, including all receipts, cash, 
credits, property and services of any kind of nature, without reduction thereof 
whatsoever.  

77



 

Page 3 of 7 
 

7. Short-term Rental (STR) means a dwelling unit or bedroom(s) within a 
dwelling unit including either single-family detached or multi-family attached 
unit, rented for the purpose of overnight lodging for a period not less than one 
night nor more than 29 consecutive days to the same person or persons.  

8. Hosting Platform means an internet-based (online) platform that connects 
owners of STRs to potential renters by way of a website and in exchange for 
a service fee.  Hosting platform agent shall not mean local contact person or 
managing agency or agent as defined in this section.  
 

E. SHORT-TERM RENTAL (STR) PERMIT REQUIRED. 
 
No owner of a dwelling unit shall rent the unit for a short term without having a 
current valid STR permit issued by the Town of Mesilla. STR permits are issued to 
the owner for a period of one year and are non-transferable. 
 

1. Nothing contained within this section shall be construed to abridge the ability 
of bona fide neighborhood covenants and/or deed restrictions to be more 
restrictive than the regulations within this ordinance. Such covenants and 
deed restrictions shall not be enforceable by the Town of Mesilla but remain 
the responsibility of the property owners to ensure compliance within their 
applicable neighborhood(s). 

2. Large-scale events (i.e., exceeding maximum allowed dwelling unit 
occupancy) such as parties, weddings, fundraisers and conferences, are 
prohibited in residential zones without a separate permit issued by the Town 
of Mesilla. Adequate parking must be available.  

3. No more than one STR permit shall be issued per property except in multi-
family single lot subdivisions. 

4. The owner of a STR shall sign an indemnification and hold harmless 
agreement in a form approved by the Town of Mesilla Attorney, agreeing to 
indemnify, save, protect, hold harmless, and defend the Town of Mesilla, its 
officers, employees and agents from any liability in any way arising out of the 
use of the STR including, without limitations, from the STR guests. 

5. All marketing and advertising of an STR, including any listing on a hosting 
platform, shall clearly list the Town of Mesilla-issued STR permit number.  
. 

 
F. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 

 
The STR owner or managing agency shall apply to the Town of Mesilla for a STR 
permit and supply, at a minimum, the following information: 

 
1. The maximum number of occupants and vehicles that the dwelling unit can 

accommodate. 
a. The parking calculation shall be based upon a minimum of one parking 

space provided per dwelling unit. A parking fee shall be imposed if there is 

78



 

Page 4 of 7 
 

no private parking provided (see Appendix A). Parking requirements must 
be clearly stated on hosting platform listing and property.  

b. The occupancy shall be determined by the floor area of each dwelling unit, 
number of restrooms per dwelling unit, infrastructure suitable to service 
the occupants and shall be in accordance with habitable and occupancy 
codes.  

2. The name, address, email address, telephone number of the owner, and the 
24-hour emergency contact number (if not the owner of the STR) for which 
the permit is to be issued.  

3. A tax ID number issued by the New Mexico Taxation and Revenue 
Department registered to the proposed STR. 

4. A business license is also required for anyone conducting business within the 
Town of Mesilla (Municipal Town Code (MTC 5.05.03), and thus for a STR 
permit.    

5. A site plan to include designated on-property parking (18.60.170(C)(2). 
6. Floor plan of the STR and location in reference to the property and/or existing 

structures on the property. 
7. Owner authorization agreement (if applicable), allowing property management 

agency to represent their interest. 
8.  Application updates regarding ownership, changes in the structure, parking 

area, contact person information, etc., shall require an amendment to the 
existing STR permit.  A one-time $10 fee shall be assessed for any updates 
(see Appendix A). 

9. Fees. Applicable fees are set forth in Appendix A to this ordinance.  
 

G. ISSUING OF PERMIT 
 

1. The Town Clerk or delegate shall review the initial application for a STR 
permit within 10 days. Renewal notifications for all permits shall occur 30 
days prior to the renewal date. Issuing of permit will be consistent with 
Licensing MTC 3.20.090.  

2. Once the application review is completed, the Town Clerk shall notify the 
applicant of the decision of whether to issue the permit based on compliance 
with this section. If approval is granted, the Town Clerk will issue a STR 
permit specifying the maximum number of cars, and the maximum number of 
occupants allowed. Failure to renew the permit within the 30 days after the 
applicable March 15 renewal date, shall be subject to a late fee.  

3. An application for a permit or renewal application shall be denied if:  
a.  All applicable fees and taxes have not been paid as provided under 

MTC 3.20 or 
b. Outstanding property nuisance or building code violations exist on 

property. 
4. The Town of Mesilla recommends all STR owners to purchase insurance if the 

STR shares a common wall with an adjacent property or is less than seven 
feet from property line.  

79



 

Page 5 of 7 
 

5. Failure to comply with code requirements of this may result in revocation of 
the permit for a 12-month time period at the discretion of the Community & 
Economic Development Director or designated staff.  

6. If the STR owner plans to discontinue short-term rental of the property, a 
statement to that effect shall be filed with the Town of Mesilla and the permit 
will be canceled.  

 
 
 

H. TENANT NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. The following information shall be provided by the owner, managing agency, 

or agent within each STR unit:  
a. A copy of the STR permit. 
b. The name of the managing agency, agent, property manager, local contact 

person or owner of the unit, and telephone number at which the party can 
be reached on a 24-hour, seven days a week basis.  

c. The maximum number of occupants three years of age and older are 
permitted to stay in the unit.  

d. The number of maximum vehicles allowed to be parked on the property.  
e. The number of on-site parking spaces and the parking rules and 

location(s). 
f. The specific procedures regarding the disposal of trash and refuse.  
g. A notification that a tenant may be cited and fined for creating a 

disturbance and/or for violating other provisions of the MTC. 
h. Notice that noise provisions contained in the MTC section 9.10.070 will be 

enforced. 
i. Notice of outdoor lighting provisions and regulations contained in MTC 

18.50.050. 
j. The 911 address for the property. 
k. Notice that animal leash laws contained in section MTC 6.05 (prohibited 

acts; animal nuisance; vicious or dangerous animals) will be enforced.  
l. Notification of MTC 8.10 Smoke-Free Regulations. 

 
2. Exterior advertising or signage on STR units which indicate availability, phone 

numbers or other types of information is prohibited. For the purpose of this 
section, signage shall only be permitted if it includes the name of the dwelling 
unit and does not include advertisement of the property. 
a. Signage shall be consistent with MTC 18.52.030(D) 18.65.070 (P), under 

exceptions. Maximum size of 2 square feet. 
 
I. HOSTING PLATFORM RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

1. Hosting platforms shall not process or complete any booking transactions for 
any, unless the STR has a valid current STR permit issued by the Town of 

80



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Mesilla. Hosting platforms are required to list the STR permit number and 
expiration date for each listing.  

2. Within forty-five (45) days of effective date of this ordinance, hosting platforms 
with listings located in the Town of Mesilla shall provide contact information of 
the hosting platforms.  

3. Hosting platforms shall remove any listings of STRs upon notification by the 
Town of Mesilla.  

4. Hosting platforms shall be responsible for collecting all applicable lodging tax 
and submitting the same to the Town of Mesilla. The STR owner shall remain 
responsible for collection and remittance of the lodging tax in the event that 
the hosting platform fails to fulfill its obligations under this section to collect 
and/or remit to the Town of Mesilla or the hosting platform and the STR owner 
enter into agreement regarding the fulfillment of this subsection. 

5. All hosting platforms operating within the Town of Mesilla must comply with all 
federal, state, and local laws.  

 
J. SEVERABILITY 

 
If any provision or clause of this ordinance or the application thereof to any 
person or circumstances is held to be unconstitutional or to be otherwise invalid 
by any court competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect other sections 
provisions, or clauses, or applications, and to this end the provisions, sections, 
and clauses of the ordinance are declared to be severable.  

 
K. ENFORCEMENT & PENALTIES 

 
1. In addition to any other penalties or fines authorized by the Town of Mesilla 

Municipal Code, the owner of a STR unit shall be required to pay a penalty as 
set forth in the fee schedule to this code (MTC 18.95.040) in order to obtain, 
retain or renew a STR permit.  

2. Each day that an owner rents a unit for a short term without first obtaining a 
STR permit is considered a separate violation of the Town of Mesilla 
Municipal Code and shall be treated as such. 

3. The town code enforcement officer or other designated town employee or 
representative shall take action to correct the violation as provided for in this 
code or state statute.  

4. The first suspected or observed violation of this section by the Town of Mesilla 
shall result in an initial warning notice requesting requiring registration of the 
unregistered STR unit in accordance with the provisions of this ordinance 
without subject to penalty. Should the property owner fail to comply after 
receiving such initial notice from the Town of Mesilla, penalties may be 
assessed. 

 
 
 
 

81



 

Page 7 of 7 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

BUSINESS LICENSE $35 ANNUALLY  
STR PERMIT $100 ANNUALLY 
PARKING FEE  $150 ANNUALLY, IF NO ON-SITE PARKING 

AVAILABLE 
LATE RENEWAL PENALTY FEE $50 PER MONTH AFTER EXPIRATION 
FIRE INSPECTION $40 EVERY 3 YEARS 
STR PERMIT UPDATES $10       ONE-TIME          

 

82



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 1/11

Chapter 3.20 
LODGERS’ TAX

Sections:
3.20.010  Title, purpose and authority.

3.20.020  Definitions.

3.20.030  Limitations on the use of proceeds.

3.20.040  Eligible uses of tax proceeds.

3.20.050  Contracting for services.

3.20.060  Administration.

3.20.070  Imposition of tax.

3.20.080  Exemptions.

3.20.090  Licensing.

3.20.100  Collection of the tax – Reporting procedures.

3.20.110  Audit of vendors.

3.20.120  Advisory board created – Duties.

3.20.130  Financial reporting.

3.20.140  Enforcement.

3.20.150  Duty of vendor.

3.20.160  Failure to pay tax – Failure to make return – Computation, penalty, notice.

3.20.170  Lien for occupancy tax, payment, certificate of liens.

3.20.180  Penalty.

83



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 2/11

3.20.010 Title, purpose and authority.
A. Title. This chapter may be cited as the “lodgers’ tax chapter.”

B. Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to impose a tax which will be borne by persons using 
commercial lodging and short-term rental accommodations within the town of Mesilla and which will 
provide revenues for the purpose of advertising, publicizing and promoting tourist-related attractions, 
facilities and events, and acquiring, establishing and operating tourist-related facilities, attractions or 
transportation systems, as authorized in MTC 3.20.040.

C. Authority. This chapter is adopted pursuant to the provisions set forth in the New Mexico State 
Statutes 1978, Sections 3-38-13 through 3-38-23, as amended. The provisions of this chapter are 
adopted in acceptance of and in accordance with said statutes. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-1]

3.20.020 Definitions.
The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings ascribed
to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

A. “Board of trustees” means the governing body of the town of Mesilla;

B. “Gross taxable rent” means the total amount of rent paid for lodging, not including the state gross
receipts tax or local sales taxes;

C. “Lodging” means the transaction of furnishing rooms or other accommodations by a vendor to a
vendee who for rent uses, possesses or has the right to use or possess any room or rooms or other
units of accommodations in or at a taxable premises;

D. “Lodgings” means the rooms or other accommodations furnished by vendor to a vendee by a
taxable service of lodgings;

E. “Occupancy tax” means the tax on lodging authorized by this chapter;

F. “Person” means a corporation, firm, other body corporate, partnership, association or individual.
“Person” includes an executor, administrator, trustee, receiver or other representative appointed
according to law and acting in a representative capacity. “Person” does not include the United States
of America, the state of New Mexico, any corporation, department, instrumentality or agency of the
federal government or the state government, or any political subdivision of the state;

G. “Rent” means the consideration received by a vendor in money, credits, property or other
consideration valued in money for lodgings subject to an occupancy tax authorized in this chapter;

84



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 3/11

+. “Taxable premises” means a hotel, apartment, apartment hotel, apartment house, lodge, lodging
house, rooming house, motor hotel, guest house, guest ranch, ranch resort, guest resort, mobile
home, motor court, auto court, auto camp, trailer court, trailer camp, trailer park, tourist camp, cabin,
short-term rental or other premises used for lodging;

,. “Town” means the town of Mesilla, New Mexico;

-. “Town clerk-treasurer” means the town clerk-treasurer or his/her designated representative;

.. “Tourist” means a person who travels for the purpose of business, pleasure or culture to a
municipality or county imposing  an occupancy tax;

/. “Tourist-related events” mean events that are planned for, promoted to and attended by tourists;

0. “Tourist-related facilities and attractions” means facilities and attractions that are intended to be
used by or visited by tourists;

1. “Tourist-related transportation systems” mean transportation systems that provide transportation for
tourists to and from tourist-related facilities, attractions and events;

2. “Vendee” means a natural person to whom lodgings are furnished in the exercise of the taxable
service of lodging;

3. “Vendor” means a person furnishing lodgings in the exercise of the taxable service of lodging. [Ord.
2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-2]

3.20.030 Limitations on the use of proceeds.
A. The occupancy tax shall not exceed five percent of the gross taxable rent.

B. Every vendor who is furnishing any lodgings within the town is exercising a taxable privilege.

C. Not less than one-half of the proceeds derived from the tax shall be used for advertising, publicizing 
and promoting tourist-related attractions, facilities and events.

'. The proceeds from the occupancy tax in excess of the amount required to be used for advertising, 
publicizing and promoting tourist-related attractions, facilities and events may be used for any purpose 
authorized in MTC 3.20.040.

(. The proceeds from the occupancy tax that are required to be used to advertise, publicize and 
promote tourist-related attractions, facilities and events shall be used within two years of the close of

85



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 4/11

the fiscal year in which they were collected and shall not be accumulated beyond that date or used for 
any other purpose. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-3]

3.20.040 Eligible uses of tax proceeds.
Subject to the limitations contained in MTC 3.20.030, the town may use the proceeds from the 
lodgers’ tax to defray the costs of:

A. Collecting and otherwise administering the tax, including the performance of audits required by 
MTC 3.20.100, pursuant to guidelines issued by the Department of Finance and Administration;

B. Establishing, operating, purchasing, constructing or otherwise acquiring, reconstructing, extending, 
improving, equipping, furnishing or acquiring real property or any interest in real property for the site or 
grounds for tourist-related facilities, attractions or transportation systems of the municipality or of the 
county in which the municipality is located;

C. The principal of and interest on any prior redemption premiums due in connection with and any 
other charges pertaining to revenue bonds authorized by Section 3-38-23 or 3-38-24 NMSA 1978;

'. Advertising, publicizing and promoting tourist-related attractions, facilities and events of the town 
and tourist facilities or attractions within Dona Ana County;

(. Providing police and fire protection and sanitation service for tourist-related events, facilities and 
attractions located in the town or Dona Ana County; or

). Any combination of the foregoing purposes or transactions stated in this section, but for no other 
town or county purpose. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-4]

3.20.050 Contracting for services.
A. The board of trustees may contract for the management of programs and activities funded with 
revenue from the occupancy tax. The board of trustees shall require periodic reports to the board, at 
least quarterly, listing the expenditures for those periods. Within 10 days of receiving the reports, the 
board shall furnish copies of them to the advisory board. Funds provided to the contracting person or 
governmental agency shall be maintained in a separate account established for that purpose and shall 
not be commingled with any other money.

B. A person or governmental agency with whom the town contracts under this section to conduct an 
activity authorized by MTC 3.20.040 shall maintain complete and accurate financial records of each 
expenditure of the tax revenue made and upon request of the board shall make such records available 
for inspection.

86

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-38-23
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-38-24


6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 5/11

C. The occupancy tax revenue spent for a purpose authorized by this chapter may be spent for day-
to-day operations, supplies, salaries, office rental, travel expenses and other administrative costs only
if those administrative costs are incurred directly for that purpose.

D. A person or governmental agency with whom the board of trustees contracts under this section may
subcontract with the approval of the board of trustees. A subcontractor shall be subject to the same
terms and conditions as the contractor regarding separate financial accounts, periodic reports and
inspection of records. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-5]

3.20.060 Administration.
The board of trustees or their delegated representative shall administer the lodgers’ tax moneys
collected. The duties assigned to the town clerk-treasurer in this chapter may, from time to time, be
reassigned to other departments or officials in whole or part as determined by the town clerk-treasurer.
[Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-6]

3.20.070 Imposition of tax.
There is hereby imposed an occupancy tax of revenues of five percent of the gross taxable rent for
lodging within the town of Mesilla paid to vendors from and after July 1, 1998. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior
code § 7-9-7]

3.20.080 Exemptions.
The occupancy tax shall not apply:

A. If a vendee:

1. Has been a permanent resident of the taxable premises for a period of at least 30 consecutive
days; or

2. Enters into or has entered into a written agreement for lodgings at the taxable premises for a
period of at least 30 consecutive days;

B. If the rent paid by a vendee is less than $2.00 a day;

C. To lodging accommodations at institutions of the federal government, the state or any political
subdivision thereof;

D. To lodging accommodations at religious, charitable, educational or philanthropic institutions,
including without limitation such accommodations at summer camps operated by such institutions;

87



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 6/11

(. To clinics, hospitals or other medical facilities;

). To privately owned and operated convalescent homes or homes for the aged, infirm, indigent or
chronically ill; or

*. If the taxable premises does not have at least three rooms or three other units of accommodation
for lodging. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-8]

3.20.090 Licensing.
$. No vendor shall engage in the business of providing lodging in the town of Mesilla who has not first
obtained a license as provided in this section anG a SermLt reJLstratLon SXrsXant to M7& ��.��.���.

%. Applicants for a vendor’s license shall submit an application to the town clerk-treasurer stating:

�. The name of the vendor, including identification of any person, as defined in this chapter, who
owns or operates or both owns and operates a place of lodging and the name or trade names
under which the vendor proposes to do business and the post office address therefor;

�. A description of the facilities, including the number of rooms and the usual schedule of rates
therefor;

�. A description of other facilities provided by the vendor or others to users of the lodgings such
as a restaurant, bar, cleaning, laundry, courtesy car, stenographic, tailor or others, and a
statement identifying the license issued, to whom issued, the authority issuing and the period for
which issued, if applicable, and the identification number provided by the Department of Taxation
and Revenue of the State of New Mexico;

�. The nature of the business practices of the vendor and to what extent, if any, the business is
exempt from the lodgers’ tax;

�. Other information reasonably necessary to effect a determination of eligibility for such license.

&. The town clerk-treasurer shall review applications for licenses within 10 days of receipt thereof and
grant the license in due course if the clerk-treasurer finds the applicant is doing business subject to
the occupancy tax.

If the town clerk-treasurer finds that the applicant is not qualified to do business subject to the
occupancy tax, the clerk-treasurer shall, not more than 10 days after receipt of the application, advise

88

Eddie Salazar
Cross-Out

Eddie Salazar
Cross-Out



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 7/11

the applicant of this decision and give the reasons therefor. The notice of such action shall be sent by
certified mail addressed to the applicant at the address given on the application.

D. If the town clerk-treasurer finds the applicant not exempt under the terms of this chapter, the clerk-
treasurer, shall, not more than 10 days after receipt of the application, advise the applicant of this
decision and give the reasons therefor. The notice of such action shall be sent by certified mail
addressed to the applicant at the address given on the application.

E. An applicant who is dissatisfied with the decision of the town clerk-treasurer may appeal the
decision to the board of trustees by written notice to the town clerk-treasurer of such appeal to be
made within 15 days of the date of the decision made by the town clerk-treasurer regarding the
application. The matter shall be referred to the board of trustees for hearing at their next regularly
scheduled meeting in the usual course of business.

The decision of the board of trustees made thereof shall be expressed in writing and notice of such
decision shall be sent by certified mail addressed to the applicant at the address given on the
application not more than 10 days following the meeting at which the decision was made. The action
of the board of trustees shall be final.

F. If the board of trustees finds for the applicant, the town clerk-treasurer shall issue the appropriate
license or other notice conforming to the decision made by the board of trustees. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2;
prior code § 7-9-9]

3.20.100 Collection of the tax – Reporting procedures.
A. Every vendor providing lodgings in the town of Mesilla shall collect the tax thereon on behalf of the
town and shall act as a trustee therefor.

B. The tax shall be collected from vendees in accordance with this chapter and shall be charged
separately from the rent fixed by the vendor for the lodgings.

C. On and after July 1, 1998, each vendor licensed under the provisions of this chapter shall be liable
to the town for the tax provided herein on the rent paid for lodging at the vendor’s respective place of
business.

D. Each vendor shall prepare a monthly report on forms provided by the town clerk-treasurer of the
receipts for lodging paid to him in the preceding calendar month and shall submit the report and
payment of the amounts due to the town by the twenty-fifth day of each month. The report shall
include sufficient information to enable the town to audit the report and shall be verified on oath by the
vendor. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-10]

89



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 8/11

3.20.110 Audit of vendors.
The board of trustees of the town shall have random audits conducted every third year to verify full
payment of occupancy tax receipts.

A. The board of trustees shall determine the number of vendors within the municipality to audit.

B. The audit(s) may be performed by the town clerk-treasurer or by any other designee of the board of
trustees. A copy of the completed audit(s) shall be filed annually with the Local Government Division of
the Department of Finance and Administration. [Ord. 2007-05 § 1; Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-
11]

3.20.120 Advisory board created – Duties.
A. The mayor shall appoint a five-member advisory board that consists of two members who are 
owners or operators of lodgings subject to the occupancy tax within the municipality, two members 
who are owners or operators of industries located within the municipality that primarily provide 
services or products to tourists and one member who is a resident of the municipality and represents 
the general public.

B. Members of the advisory board created under subsection (A) of this section shall serve at the  
pleasure of the board of trustees. The terms of appointment shall be for two years and shall be 
staggered.

C. The advisory board shall submit to the mayor and board of trustees recommendations for the 
expenditures of funds authorized by MTC 3.20.040(B) for a dvertising, publicizing and promoting 
tourist-related attractions, facilities and events in the town and surrounding area of Dona Ana County.
[Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-12]

3.20.130 Financial reporting.
A. The board of trustees shall furnish to the advisory board that portion of any proposed budget, report 
or audit filed or received by the governing body pursuant to either Chapter 6, Article 6 NMSA 1978 or 
the Audit Act that relates to the expenditure of occupancy tax funds within 10 days of the filing or 
receipt of such proposed budget, report or audit by the board of trustees.

B. The board of trustees shall report to the Local Government Division of the Department of Finance 
and Administration on a quarterly basis any expenditure of occupancy tax funds pursuant to Sections
3-38-15 and 3-38-21 NMSA 1978, and shall furnish a copy of this report to the advisory board when it 
is filed with the Division. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-13]

3.20.140 Enforcement.
90

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=Ch.%206
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=Ch.%206%2C%20Art.%206
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-38-15
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-38-21


6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 9/11

A. An action to enforce the Lodgers’ Tax Act may be brought by:

1. The attorney general or the district attorney in the county of jurisdiction; or

2. A vendor who is collecting the proceeds of an occupancy tax in the county of jurisdiction.

B. A district court may issue a writ of mandamus or order an injunction or other appropriate remedy to
enforce the provisions of the Lodgers’ Tax Act.

C. The court shall award costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party in a court action
to enforce the provisions of the Lodgers’ Tax Act. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-14]

3.20.150 Duty of vendor.
Vendors shall maintain adequate records of facilities subject to the occupancy tax and of proceeds
received for the use thereof. Such records shall be maintained in the town of Mesilla and shall be
open to the inspection of the municipality during reasonable hours and shall be retained for three
years. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-15]

3.20.160 Failure to pay tax – Failure to make return – Computation, penalty, notice.
A. Every vendor is liable for the payment of the proceeds of any occupancy tax that the vendor failed
to remit to the town, whether due to his failure to collect the tax or otherwise.

B. If any vendor makes a return as required by this chapter without paying the tax then due, the
vendor shall be liable for the tax and a penalty equal to 10 percent of the amount not remitted but not
less than $100.00 without notice from the town with regard thereto. Promptly thereafter, the town
clerk-treasurer shall give the delinquent vendor written notice of such estimated tax, penalty and
interest, which notice shall be served personally or by certified mail.

C. If any vendor neglects or refuses to make a return and pay the tax as required by this chapter, the
town clerk-treasurer may make an estimate based upon any information in the clerk-treasurer’s
possession, or that may come into the clerk-treasurer’s possession, of the amount of the rent of the
delinquent vendor for the period with respect to which the vendor has failed to make a return, and
upon the basis of the estimated amount the clerk-treasurer shall compute and assess the tax payable
by the delinquent vendor, adding to the sum thus arrived at a penalty equal to 10 percent thereof, but
not less than $100.00. Promptly thereafter, the town clerk-treasurer shall give the delinquent vendor
written notice of such estimated tax, penalty and interest, which notice shall be served personally or
by certified mail.

91



6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 10/11

D. If a vendor shall fail to make payment of the tax when due, the vendor shall be liable for the tax and
a penalty equal to 10 percent thereof but not less than $100.00 in addition to the tax and interest on
such amounts of one percent per month.

E. If payments are not made by the vendor within 15 days of written notice, the town clerk-treasurer
shall bring an action in law or equity in the magistrate or district court for the collection of any amounts
due, including without limitation penalties thereon, interest on the unpaid principal at a rate not
exceeding one percent per month and the costs of collection and reasonable attorney’s fee incurred in
connection therewith. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-16]

3.20.170 Lien for occupancy tax, payment, certificate of liens.
A. The occupancy tax imposed by the town constitutes a lien in favor of the town upon the personal 
and real property of the vendor providing lodgings in the town of Mesilla. The lien may be enforced as 
provided in Sections 3-36-1 through 3-36-7 NMSA 1978. Priority of the lien shall be determined from 
the date of filing.

B. Under process or order of court, no person shall sell the property of any vendor without first 
ascertaining from the town clerk-treasurer the amount of any occupancy tax due the town. Any 
occupancy tax due the town shall be paid from the proceeds of the sale before payment is made to 
the judgment creditor or any other person with a claim on the sale proceeds.

C. The town clerk-treasurer shall furnish to any person applying for such a certificate a certificate 
showing the amount of all liens in the records of the town against any vendor pursuant to Chapter 3, 
Article 38, NMSA 1978. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-17]

3.20.180 Penalty.
Any person who violates the provisions of this chapter by failure to pay the tax, to remit the proceeds 
thereof to the town, or to account properly for any lodging and tax proceeds pertaining thereto, shall 
be charged with a petty misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine of not more 
than $500.00 or imprisonment for not more than 90 days or by both such fine and imprisonment as 
provided for in MTC 1.05.080. [Ord. 2001-02 § 2; prior code § 7-9-18]

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the 
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

Town Website: http://www.mesillanm.gov/
Town Telephone: (575) 524-3262

92

https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-36-1
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=3-36-7
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=Ch.%203
https://www.codepublishing.com/cgi-bin/nmsa.pl?cite=Ch.%203%2C%20Art.%2038
http://www.mesillanm.gov/


6/14/23, 1:39 PM Chapter 3.20 LODGERS’ TAX

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla03/Mesilla0320.html#3.20 11/11

Code Publishing Company

93

https://www.codepublishing.com/


6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 1/6

Chapter 18.20
RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

Sections:
18.20.010  Purpose.

18.20.020  Permitted uses.

18.20.030  Uses requiring special use permits.

18.20.040  Uses prohibited.

18.20.050  Development standards.

18.20.010 Purpose.
This zone is intended for the maintenance of low residential densities, for the preservation of 
agricultural uses and for the continuance of agriculturally related industries and activities. [Ord. 
2000-03 § 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.1.A]

18.20.020 Permitted uses.
A lot in the RF zone shall be used for the following purposes only:

A. A farm or ranch.

B. A one-family home, only as an accessory to the primary agricultural use.

C. Farm labor housing, only as an accessory to the primary agricultural use.

'. A guest house, used only as an accessory to the primary single-family home FDSDEOH RI EHLQJ 
UHQWHG VKRUW�WHUP DQG ORQJ WHUP. and not rented or otherwise conducted as a business. 

(. A roadside stand offering for sale only farm products, the majority of which are grown on the 
premises; provided, that such stands shall be removed during any period of time when not in use.

). Home occupations.

*.A farm for the raising, breeding, and sale of small animals such as dogs, cats, rabbits, chinchillas, 
and hamsters.

94

Eddie Salazar
Cross-Out



6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 2/6

H. Plant nursery and greenhouse.

I. Storage only of trailers and campers; provided, they are not in excess of 35 feet in length; and
provided, that the trailers and/or campers are not used for human habitation nor shall they be
connected to any public or private utility system such as water, sewer, gas, or electricity.

J. Accessory structures and uses such as barns, corrals, sheds, pens and similar structures
customarily incidental to any of the above uses, when located on the same lot.

K. Stockpiling and composting of manures, fertilizers, soil amendments, conditioners, or compost as
an ancillary use to the primary agricultural use; and provided, that such materials do not remain
stockpiled for more than 30 days. The stockpiling or composting of any manures, fertilizers, soil
amendments, conditioners or compost for more than 30, but no more than 60 days, shall be allowed
only subject to the following requirements and standards:

1. Space Requirement. Stockpiled material shall occupy no more than five percent of the entire
parcel and the total area occupied by stockpiled material shall be no greater than one acre;

2. Setback Standard. All stockpiled material shall be set back a minimum of 500 feet from
abutting adjacent properties;

3. Protective Covering Requirement. All stockpiled material shall be covered with an
impermeable protective covering to reduce odor, dust, debris and flies and bar access to vermin;

4. Screening Requirement. The stockpiled material shall be screened from public view, and shall
not be visible beyond the property boundaries.

Notwithstanding the above requirements and standards, no manures, fertilizers, soil amendments, 
conditioners or compost shall be stockpiled for more than 60 days. [Ord. 2003-06 § 2; Ord. 2000-03 
§ 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.1.B]

18.20.030 Uses requiring special use permits.
Special or unclassified uses as defined in MTC 18.55.010 and 18.55.020 shall be permitted in the RF 
zone, provided the board of trustees approves following a public hearing. In addition, the following 
uses may be permitted subject to restrictions, and the issuance of a special use permit:

A. Cottage industries; provided, the following conditions are met:

95



6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 3/6

1. Employment shall be limited to a maximum of five persons plus one additional person for
every two acres above the minimum lot size.

2. Structures housing cottage industries shall occupy no more than five percent of the lot where
they are located.

3. No noxious, odorous or hazardous processes shall be employed; nor shall the use or storage
of explosives or flammable materials be permitted, excepting those specifically related to the
allowed use and in conformance with applicable codes. Dust, noise or glare shall not extend
beyond the properties on which they are located.

4. One parking space shall be provided for each employee.

5. One unlighted sign, having a maximum area of 10 square feet shall be permitted.

6. Parking, outdoor storage areas or other unsightly appurtenances shall be screened from
public view.

B. Agriculturally related industries such as cotton gins, food processing plants, packaging plants or
mills providing the following conditions are met:

1. The site for the use shall be no smaller than five acres.

2. Structures housing agriculturally related industries shall occupy no more than 20 percent of
the parcel.

3. No noxious, odorous or hazardous processes shall be employed, nor shall the use or storage
of explosives or flammable materials be permitted, excepting those specifically related to the
allowed use and in conformance with applicable codes, nor shall industries emit dust, noise or
glare beyond the property.

4. No industry shall be permitted closer than 500 feet from abutting adjacent properties.

5. One parking space shall be provided for each employee.

6. Parking, outdoor storage areas or other unsightly appurtenances shall be screened from
public view.

C. Feedlots; provided, that the following conditions are complied with:

96



6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 4/6

1. Livestock in a feedlot shall not be corralled within 500 feet of any residence or any residential
zones.

2. One parking space shall be provided for each employee.

D. Bed and breakfast inns may be permitted; provided, the following conditions are met:

1. General.

a. The owner/manager shall live on site.

b. Employment shall be limited to a maximum of five persons including the owner/manager.

c. No more than seven guest rooms shall be permitted.

d. Length of stay shall be limited to no more than 14 consecutive days. Bed and breakfast
inns are specifically prohibited from allowing guests a permanent residence.

e. Food service shall be limited to breakfasts.

2. Land Use Requirements.

a. The guest rooms shall be part of or attached to the main residence of the owner/manager.

b. Only one unlighted sign having a maximum area of 10 square feet shall be permitted.

c. A minimum of two parking spaces shall be required for the owner/manager. In addition,
one parking space shall be required for each employee and one parking space shall be
required for each guest room.

d. Inns shall meet the provisions of the New Mexico Uniform Building Code, New Mexico
Environmental Improvement Division Regulations and pertinent fire safety regulations.

e. Newly constructed inns or existing residences modified to meet the provisions of this
section shall be designed to be compatible with the residential character of the
neighborhood in which they are located. New construction of bed and breakfast inns must
meet the architectural guidelines and criteria for development established for Historical
Residential and Historical Commercial zones in Mesilla.

97



6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 5/6

3. Development Plans. The owner/manager of the land shall submit a complete detailed plan of
the project. The development plan shall contain the following information:

a. Site plan with scale and north point showing all existing and proposed improvements.

b. Surveyed boundaries or legal description of the area proposed to be developed.

c. Parking areas with arrangement of stalls, location of entrance and exit driveways and their
relation to existing streets.

d. Landscaping plan including fencing.

e. Floor plans, elevations and exterior details of proposed improvements.

f. Existing development of adjacent properties within 600 feet of the exterior boundary of the
lot, including the location, type and use of buildings and structures. [Ord. 94-06 § 1; Ord. 89-
03; prior code § 11-2-11.1.C]

18.20.040 Uses prohibited.
Prohibited uses in the RF zone are as follows:

A. Multifamily uses.

B. Commercial uses other than the sale of agricultural products, the majority of which were produced
on the property.

C. Industrial uses other than cottage or agricultural industries.

D. Use of trailers as dwellings with or without wheels attached.

E. Signs other than those permitted by this title. [Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.1.D]

18.20.050 Development standards.

A. Lot Area. Each lot shall have a minimum area of five acres except cluster development.

B. Lot Dimensions. Each lot shall have a minimum width of 225 feet. Each lot shall have a minimum
depth of 300 feet.

C. Yards – Front. Each lot or parcel of land shall have a front yard extending across the full width of
the lot or parcel, with a depth of not less than 30 feet.

(. 6hort-term rentals. $ll reTXLrements M7& ��.��.��� mXst Ee met.

98



6/14/23, 1:55 PM Chapter 18.20 RF – RURAL FARM ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1820.html#18.20 6/6

D. Height Limitations. The maximum height of buildings or structures in the RF zone shall be two
stories or 30 feet, whichever is less.

E. Utilities. All installation of utility lines shall be underground, wherever technically feasible. [Ord.
2004-7 § 3; Ord. 2004-01 § 2; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.1.E]

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the 
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

Town Website: http://www.mesillanm.gov/
Town Telephone: (575) 524-3262

Code Publishing Company

99

http://www.mesillanm.gov/
https://www.codepublishing.com/


6/14/23, 1:56 PM Chapter 18.25 RA – RESIDENTIAL/AGRICULTURAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1825.html#18.25 1/3

Chapter 18.25
RA – RESIDENTIAL/AGRICULTURAL ZONE

Sections:
18.25.010  Purpose.

18.25.020  Permitted uses.

18.25.030  Uses requiring special use permits.

18.25.040  Uses expressly prohibited.

18.25.050  Development standards.

18.25.010 Purpose.
This zone is intended to encourage a suitable environment for single-family residential use on large 
parcels of land on the periphery of the built-up portions of the town and to provide for a low density of 
population. [Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.2.A]

18.25.020 Permitted uses.
Permitted uses in the RA zone are as follows:

A. A farm or ranch; provided, that livestock or poultry is not kept in corrals, barns or structures located
within 50 feet of an adjacent residential property.

B. A one-family house.

C. A JXHVW KRXVH� XVHG RQO\ DV DQ DFFHVVRU\ WR WKH SULPDU\ VLQJOH�IDPLO\ KRPH FDSDEOH RI EHLQJ UHQWHG
VKRUW�WHUP DQG ORQJ WHUP.

'. Home occupations.

(. Accessory uses customarily incidental to the uses listed above.

). One unlighted sign not to exceed one square foot in area and containing only the name and address
of the occupants.

*.Storage of trailers and campers as specified in the RF zone. [Ord. 2003-06 § 3; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior
code § 11-2-11.2.B]

+. 6hort-term rentals SXrsXant to M7& ��.��.���.
100



6/14/23, 1:56 PM Chapter 18.25 RA – RESIDENTIAL/AGRICULTURAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1825.html#18.25 2/3

18.25.030 Uses requiring special use permits.
Uses requiring special use permits in the RA zone are as follows:

Same as RF zone excepting that a cottage industry may not employ more than five persons. [Ord. 94-
06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.2.C]

18.25.040 Uses expressly prohibited.
Prohibited uses in the RA zone are as follows:

Same as the RF zone. [Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.2.D]

18.25.050 Development standards.
A. Lot Area. Each lot shall have a minimum of three acres for each dwelling unit except cluster
development.

B. Lot Dimensions. Each lot shall have a minimum width of 200 feet. Each lot shall have a minimum
depth of 300 feet.

C. Yards.

�. Front. Each lot or parcel of land shall have a front yard extending across the full width of the
lot or parcel, with a minimum depth of 30 feet.

�. Side. There shall be a side yard with a minimum width of 10 feet on each side of the lot or
parcel extending from the front yard to the rear yard.

�. Rear. There shall be a rear yard extending across the full width of the lot, with a minimum
depth of 30 feet.

'. Height Limitations. Same as the RF zone.

(. Off-Street Parking. See MTC 18.60.170.

). Utilities. All installation of utility lines shall be underground, wherever technically feasible. [Ord.
2004-7 § 4; Ord. 2004-01 § 2; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.2.E]

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

101



6/14/23, 1:56 PM Chapter 18.25 RA – RESIDENTIAL/AGRICULTURAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1825.html#18.25 3/3

Town Website: http://
www.mesillanm.gov/Town Telephone: 
(575) 524-3262

Code Publishing Company

102

http://www.mesillanm.gov/
https://www.codepublishing.com/


6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.35 H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1835.html#18.35 1/5

Chapter 18.35
H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

Sections:
18.35.010  Purpose.

18.35.020  Uses permitted.

18.35.030  Area requirements deemed met.

18.35.040  Density requirements deemed met.

18.35.050  Exterior appearance.

18.35.060  Development standards.

18.35.010 Purpose.
The purpose of this zone is to provide for the protection of those residential sections of the town that 
are worth preserving because of historical, cultural and aesthetic or architectural interest. All 
remodeling or new structures must be compatible with established architectural styles and design 
elements as outlined in Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic Preservation). [Ord. 2021-01 § 2; Ord. 2020-02 
§ 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.4.A]

18.35.020 Uses permitted.
Uses permitted in the H-R zone are as follows:

Single-family and multiple-family residences and related uses approved by the commission upon 
application and approval of a development plan in accordance with Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic 
Preservation), this chapter (H-R – Historical Residential Zone) and the comprehensive land use 
ordinance for the town. [Ord. 2021-01 § 2; Ord. 2020-02 § 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.4.B]

Short-term rental pursuant to MTC 00.00.000.

18.35.030 Area requirements deemed met.
Any lot or building site shall meet the minimum area requirements when:

A. It existed as an entire lot, or as an entire parcel, for which either a deed was on record in the office
of the county clerk or a bona fide contract of sale was in effect prior to March 14, 1972.

B. It is legally subdivided after the effective date of the ordinance codified on March 14, 1972.
103



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.35 H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1835.html#18.35 2/5

Any lot or building that is deemed to be legal and meets the area requirements because of this section 
shall not be deemed nonconforming simply because it exists on less than the area required by the 
code. [Ord. 2021-01 § 2]

18.35.040 Density requirements deemed met.
Any lot or building which had been approved by the Mesilla board of trustees prior to June 8, 2020
(Ord. 2020-02) and which is not in conformity with these regulations, but for which permits or 
variances were granted under previous ordinances, may continue and shall not be deemed 
nonconforming. [Ord. 2021-01 § 2]

18.35.050 Exterior appearance.
An application for a permit which would authorize construction, modification, moving or destruction, 
use or function which would affect the exterior appearance of any structure or sign must first be 
reviewed and approved by the PZHAC for compliance with Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic 
Preservation), and receive final approval by the board of trustees. [Ord. 2021-01 § 2; Ord. 2020-02 
§ 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.4.C. Formerly 18.35.030]

18.35.060 Development standards.
A. Lot Area. Each lot or parcel to be developed in the H-R zone shall have a minimum of 80 feet of
frontage on a public street and a minimum of 8,000 square feet of area.

B. Population Density. When lots or parcels in the H-R zone are to be developed to single-family or
multiple single-family dwellings, each lot or parcel shall have sufficient area to provide 8,000 square
feet of area for each family unit to be built. The maximum number of dwellings allowed on any
property shall be two, providing density and parking requirements are met. Additionally, up to five
structures will be allowed on any property, providing density and parking requirements are met. A
minimum of 40 percent of the property shall be open space and is required in order to limit the density
of development on each parcel. Each applicant must submit a site plan demonstrating the open space
requirement at the time they apply for a permit for any new structure.

Canopies and accessory structures in a rear yard shall not be more than 50 percent of the required
area and can be set back three feet from the side or rear yards if they are made of fire resistive
materials. Any temporary structures can be set back three feet from the side or rear yards if they are
made of fire resistive materials.

C. New Construction. New structures and modifications to existing structures prior to June 8, 2020,
may be built in this zone, providing the exterior appearance of the structure is approved by the PZHAC

104



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.35 H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1835.html#18.35 3/5

for compliance with Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic Preservation) and the comprehensive land use 
ordinance for the town, with final approval by the BOT.

�. New structures on properties containing existing structures shall be architecturally similar to 
the principal dwelling or structure on the property and shall meet the requirements in subsection 
(C)(3) of this section.

�. If a property is undeveloped, any new structure, to include dwellings, shall be architecturally 
similar to the dwellings or structures in the development zone immediately adjacent to the 
property and shall not exceed 15 feet in height including parapet, whichever is lower. The height 
of chimneys is to meet building code, but not be higher than 17 feet.

�. Any structure within the historical residential zone shall be architecturally similar to the 
dwellings or structures in the development zone immediately adjacent (a block radius as 
discussed in Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic Preservation) to the property and shall not exceed 15 
feet in height including parapet.

D. Yards. For all new buildings, front, side and rear yard must be at least seven feet from the property
line.

1. Any repairs of structures or fences that have been legally built on a property line prior to June
8, 2020, will not require a right-of-entry form;

2. New construction of fences shall require a right-of-entry agreement signed by all property
owners of all applicable properties for construction and maintenance that is recorded in Dona
Ana County records and filed with the town clerk; and

3. This document must be acquired prior applying to planning, zoning, and historical
appropriateness commission approval; and

4. This document shall be permanent and remain with all properties regardless of ownership; and

5. If a mutual agreement cannot be acquired, the applicant shall meet the required setback of
seven feet.

E. Utilities. All new installations of utility lines shall be underground unless a utility service provider
demonstrates the inability to provide service, or a demonstrated hardship of inability to obtain
easement from an adjacent property owner for an installation from an existing pole. A final
determination as to whether a hardship is sufficient to allow an aboveground utility installation will be

105



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.35 H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1835.html#18.35 4/5

decided on a case-by-case basis by the mayor along with the public works director and community 
development department coordinator. For connections to town utilities refer to Chapter 13.10 MTC.

). Flagpole Lots (Existing). Lots substandard of 80-foot fronts:

�. Shall be limited to only one single-family home.

�. Must meet the height requirement in subsection (C)(2) of this section.

�. Must meet the size requirements in subsection (B) of this section.

*. Off-Street Parking. See MTC 18.60.170 and shall not include private garage as part of the off-
street calculations of parking area.

+.Lighting. See Chapter 18.50 MTC.

,. Architectural Style and Design Standards. See Chapter 18.33 MTC (Historic Preservation). In 
addition, the architectural style and design standards shall comply with the following:

�. Elevations of proposed structures shall be submitted with site plans for review by the planning, 
zoning, and historical appropriateness commission with final approval by the board of trustees.

�. Internal consistency or compatibility of styles, colors, materials, and design elements will be 
required in all new development or redevelopment within the H-R zone.

�. Stucco, brick, stone, wood, and adobe are permitted exterior wall materials. Aluminum siding, 
metal panels, metal, and aluminum fencing, mirrored glass, unstuccoed concrete block and 
unstuccoed concrete are prohibited exterior wall materials within the front setbacks.

�. The use of solar and other energy collecting and conserving strategies is encouraged by 
Mesilla. Where publicly visible, solar features and equipment shall be architecturally integrated or 
screened and shall not be visible from any public right-of-way.

�. Walls and fencing with adobe, brick, stucco, slump block, stone, wood, ornamental wire loop 
fencing, and wrought iron fencing is permitted. Unstuccoed concrete, barbed wire, chain link, 
metal wire, or similar materials are prohibited.

�. Mechanical, electrical, telephone, heating, and cooling equipment as well as other obtrusive 
structures shall be architecturally screened.

106



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.35 H-R – HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1835.html#18.35 5/5

7. No person shall stand, stop, or park a vehicle on any street or property for the principal
purpose of living within the vehicle. An RV can only be used for dwelling purposes for a
maximum of 14 days. There can be no permanent connection for water, sewer, or electricity.

-. Wall, Fencing, Hedge in H-R Zone. See MTC 18.60.340.

.. In addition to maintaining the yard, the developer (if so designated by covenant or other document) 
or the property owner shall maintain all fixed structures attached to the ground. [Ord. 2021-01 § 2; 
Ord. 2020-02 § 1; Ord. 2006-03 § 1; Ord. 2004-7 § 6; Ord. 2001-04 § 2; Ord. 94-06 § 1; Ord. 92-07
§ 1; prior code §§ 11-2-11.4.D – 11-2-11.4.G. Formerly 18.35.040]

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the 
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

Town Website: http://www.mesillanm.gov/
Town Telephone: (575) 524-3262

Code Publishing Company

107

http://www.mesillanm.gov/
https://www.codepublishing.com/


6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 1/8

Chapter 18.45
C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

Sections:
18.45.010  Purpose.

18.45.020  Uses permitted.

18.45.030  Uses expressly prohibited.

18.45.040  Development standards.

18.45.010 Purpose.
This zone is intended to provide for limited commercial enterprises. [Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-
11.6.A]

18.45.020 Uses permitted.
A building and premises on any lot in the C zone shall be used for the following purposes only:

Appliance stores, household;

Auction houses, not including animal auctions;

Automobile supply stores;

Barber shop;

Bank or financial institution;

Bakery goods shop;

Bars and cocktail lounges;

Bicycle, scooter and similar nonmotorized vehicle sale and rental;

Billiard and pool halls;

Book binding;

Book store;
108



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 2/8

Building material dealers;

Clothing stores;

Department stores;

Drugstores;

Dry goods stores;

Employment agencies;

Feed and grain stores;

Florist shops;

Furniture stores;

Gas stations;

Gift shops;

Grocery;

Hardware stores;

Hobby supply shops;

Hotels;

Interior decorating shops;

Jewelry stores;

Laundries, self-service;

Laundry agencies;

Leather goods stores;

Locksmith shops;

109



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 3/8

Millinery shops;

Motels;

Music stores;

News stands;

Notions store;

Office, business and professional;

Office equipment, sales and service;

Package liquors stores;

Paint and wallpaper stores;

Photography studio;

Pet shops, pet supply stores;

Plumbing shops;

Real estate offices;

Restaurants and other eating establishments;

Secondhand stores;

Shoe repair shops;

Shoe stores;

6KRUW�WHUP 5HQWDOV�

One single-family dwelling on any lot or parcel of land in the zone may be permitted; provided, a 
special use permit for said dwelling is first obtained; and further provided, that the dwelling shall be 
used only by the owner or lessee of the lot or parcel on which it is erected or by an employee of said 
owner or lessee, and used only with any permitted commercial use, exclusive of home occupations;

Sporting goods stores;
110



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 4/8

Tailor shops;

Theaters;

Tobacco shops;

Typewriter sales and repair shops. [Ord. 2001-09 § 1; Ord. 2001-04 § 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code
§ 11-2-11.6.B]

18.45.030 Uses expressly prohibited.
Uses expressly prohibited in the C zone are as follows:

A. Agricultural uses.

B. Industrial uses.

C. Home occupations.

D. Multifamily dwellings. [Ord. 2001-09 § 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.6.C]

18.45.040 Development standards.
A. Lot Area. Each lot or parcel to be developed in the C zone shall have a minimum of 100 feet of
frontage on a street and a minimum of 12,000 square feet of area.

B. Lot Dimensions.

1. Width. A minimum width of 100 feet is required.

2. Depth. A minimum depth of 120 feet is required.

C. Density. When lots in the C zone are to be developed, each lot or parcel shall have sufficient area
to meet the standards and regulations described below for yard requirements; ponding; parking at the
maximum number of spaces required for the intended use; solid waste collection; off-street loading
and unloading; screening and buffering; and landscaping.

D. Yards.

1. When a lot is developed to a permitted commercial use which is adjacent to a residential zone,
the yard requirements of the adjacent residential zone shall prevail; provided, that subsections
(D)(2), (3) and (4) of this section are met.

111



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 5/8

�. In no event shall the setback requirement for any yard in the C zone be less than seven feet 
unless the structure meets UBC fire-resistive requirements.

�. In the event the structure meets UBC fire-resistive requirements, then the setback requirement 
for any yard in the C zone shall be a minimum of three feet.

�. In addition to subsections (D)(1), (2) and (3) of this section, where there are three or more  
contiguous lots proposed for development in the C zone, the rear yard setback shall be 
designated as an alley and shall be specifically designated and used only for off-street loading 
and unloading, solid waste collection, emergency vehicles and other service access. The alley 
shall meet the following standards:

D. The width of the alley shall be a minimum of 20 feet and unobstructed throughout the 
width.

E. The alley shall be one-way.

F. The alley shall serve contiguous lots where there are three or more contiguous lots.

G. The alley shall be maintained by the developer if so designated by covenant or other 
document or by property owner.

H. The alley shall meet the design standards set forth in the town’s land subdivision 
regulations, MTC Title 17.

(. Off-Street Parking. See MTC 18.60.170.

). Off-Street Loading and Unloading. Every commercial building in a C zone shall have and maintain 
an off-street loading and unloading area.

*. Lighting. Any lighting system shall be installed so that any glare from the system shall be reflected 
downward and away from any nearby structure or roadway.

+. Height Limitations. No building or structure shall have a height greater than two stories or 30 feet, 
whichever is less, as measured from the natural grade of the land.

,. Screening. Outdoor storage shall require a six-foot opaque fence or wall to screen the outdoor 
storage from public view.

112



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 6/8

J. Architectural Style and Design Standards. New development or redevelopment in the C zone shall
comply with Mesilla’s established architectural styles and design elements as listed in the town’s
“Guidelines and Criteria for Preservation and Development” manual, including the development zone
specifications.

In addition, the architectural style and design standards shall comply with the following:

1. Elevations of proposed structures shall be submitted with site plans for review by the planning,
zoning and historical appropriateness commission with final approval by the board of trustees.

2. Internal consistency or compatibility of styles, colors, materials, and design elements will be
required in all new development or redevelopment within the C zone.

3. Stucco, brick, stone, wood, and adobe are permitted exterior wall materials. Aluminum siding,
metal panels, mirrored glass, unstuccoed concrete block and unstuccoed concrete are prohibited
exterior wall materials.

4. The use of solar and other energy collecting and conserving strategies is encouraged by
Mesilla. Where publicly visible, solar features and equipment shall be architecturally integrated or
screened.

5. Walls and fencing with adobe, brick, stucco, slump block, stone, wood, and wrought iron
fencing is permitted. Unstuccoed concrete, chain link, metal wire, or similar materials are
prohibited.

6. Mechanical, electrical, telephone, heating and cooling equipment as well as other obtrusive
structures shall be architecturally screened.

7. All installations of utility lines shall be underground.

8. Inspections as required by the UBC and the town of Mesilla, inclusive of foundation through
final, shall be conducted as per Chapter 15.15 MTC.

.. Landscaping. Landscaping in the C zone shall be subject to those requirements and conditions for 
landscaping as set forth in the Avenida de Mesilla Gateway Plan, adopted May 6, 1996, and as 
approved by the planning, zoning, and historical accuracy commission.

/. Parking Lots. Development of public or private parking areas shall be subject to the restrictions and 
conditions set forth in MTC 18.60.170(E).

113



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 7/8

0. Ponding. Each lot or parcel shall be provided with on-site ponding that meets the standards set 
forth by the town of Mesilla.

1. Perimeter Wall or Fencing. A uniform six-foot high perimeter wall or fencing, measured from natural 
ground surface level, shall be installed by the subdivider and/or developer between commercial 
development in the C zone and adjacent residential development or adjacent agricultural development 
to provide privacy to the homeowner and protection to the farmer from urban encroachment. The wall/
fence shall be maintained by the developer if so designated by covenant or other document or by the 
property owner. The planning and zoning commission shall determine if the standards and design 
proposed for the wall/fence are adequate and appropriate. Cross Reference: MTC 17.30.030, Alley 
location.

2. Wall, Fencing, Hedge, C Zone.

�. Height. A three-foot maximum height above natural ground surface level shall be permitted on 
any part of the required setback in the front yard and a four-foot maximum height above natural 
ground surface level shall be permitted on any part of the required set back in the side yards; 
provided, the height of such wall, fence or hedge is in accord with subsection (O)(2) of this  
section.

�. Clear Sight Triangle. There shall be no fence, wall, hedge or obstruction more than three feet 
above the street curb level or natural ground surface level at the edge of the street in the clear 
sight triangle, measured 30 feet in both directions on the property line from a corner.

�. Materials. Walls or fences constructed in the C zone must be built with the following materials 
only: stucco, brick, stone, wood, adobe or decorative iron. Decorative iron is defined as iron 
made from square or rectangular shaped iron and it may be used in the C zone for fencing alone 
or in combination with the other allowed materials mentioned above in this subsection.

�. Other Restrictions. All other restrictions and conditions appearing in MTC 18.60.340, Wall, 
fence, or hedge, and applying to the C zone are included here by reference.

3. In addition to maintaining the landscaping, ponding, and parking areas, the developer if so 
designated by covenant or other document or the property owner shall maintain any and all fixed 
structures attached to the ground.

4. All construction within the C zone shall comply fully with the American National Standards Institute 
(ANSI) 117.1-1998 handicap standards. [Ord. 2001-09 § 1; Ord. 2001-04 § 1; Ord. 94-06 § 1; Ord. 
92-06 § 1; Ord. 89-07 § 1; prior code § 11-2-11.6.D]

114



6/14/23, 1:57 PM Chapter 18.45 C – COMMERCIAL ZONE

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1845.html#18.45 8/8

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the 
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

Town Website: http://www.mesillanm.gov/
Town Telephone: (575) 524-3262

Code Publishing Company

115

http://www.mesillanm.gov/
https://www.codepublishing.com/


6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 1/13

Chapter 18.65
SIGNS*

Sections:
18.65.010  Title.

18.65.020  Purpose.

18.65.030  Authority for chapter.

18.65.040  Existing uses – Nonconforming signs.

18.65.050  Definitions.

18.65.060  Permits required.

18.65.070  Exceptions.

18.65.080  Application to erect a sign.

18.65.090  Permit issued if application is in order.

18.65.100  Permit fees.

18.65.110  Inspection.

18.65.120  Obstruction.

18.65.130  Temporary signs.

18.65.135  Sandwich board or A-frame signs.

18.65.140  Wall signs.

18.65.150  Projecting signs.

18.65.160  Freestanding signs.

18.65.165  Directory signs.

116



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 2/13

18.65.170  Development identification signs.

18.65.180  Illumination.

18.65.190  Lettering and coloring.

18.65.200  What may be advertised.

18.65.210  Maintenance.

18.65.220  Number of permitted signs.

18.65.230  Location.

18.65.240  Miscellaneous.

18.65.250  Unlawful signs.

18.65.260  Notice of unlawful signs and abatement.

18.65.270  Complaint.

18.65.280  Removal of unsafe or unlawful sign.

18.65.290  Injunctions.

* Prior legislation: Ords. 89-08 and 92-05.

18.65.010 Title.
This chapter and all subsequent amendments hereto may be cited as the “sign standards and
regulations ordinance.” [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-1]

18.65.020 Purpose.
This chapter is for the purpose of regulating the installation and use of signs within the town of Mesilla.
[Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-2]

18.65.030 Authority for chapter.
This chapter is adopted pursuant to the provisions of an Act of the State Legislature known as Chapter
3, Laws of Article 19 (being Sections 1 through 12 of the New Mexico State Statutes Annotated, 1978)
as amended. The provisions of this chapter are adopted in acceptance of and in accordance with said
Act. [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-3]

117



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 3/13

18.65.040 Existing uses – Nonconforming signs.
Nonconforming signs which have been approved by the Mesilla board of trustees or signs which are
not in conformity with these regulations but for which permits or variances were granted under
previous ordinances, may continue, until one of the following occurs:

A. The business is terminated.

B. The sign is changed, modified, or painted.

C. Five years after the ordinance codified in this chapter is in effect. [Ord. 2008-04 § 1; Ord. 94-08;
prior code § 11-3-4]

18.65.050 Definitions.
For the purpose of this chapter, certain terms or words used herein shall be interpreted or defined as
follows:

A. General.

�. Words used in the present tense include the future tense. The singular includes the plural. The 
word “person” includes a municipality, firm, association, organization, partnership, trust, company, 
or corporation as well as an individual.

�. The word “lot” includes the word “plot” or “parcel.” The term “shall” is mandatory; the term
“may” is permissive. The word “town” shall mean the town of Mesilla. The words “board of 
trustees” shall mean the town board of trustees of the town of Mesilla. The word “commission” 
shall mean the planning, zoning and historical appropriateness commission of the town of 
Mesilla.

B. Specific.

�. “Sign” shall mean and include every sign, billboard, ground sign, wall sign, roof sign, 
illuminating sign, projecting sign, marquee, awning, canopy, and shall include any 
announcement, declaration, demonstration, illustration or insignia used to advertise or promote 
the interest of any person when the same is placed out of doors. Allowed signs in the town of 
Mesilla shall be limited to wall signs, projecting signs, freestanding signs, development 
identification signs, sandwich board signs and directory signs, as well as those signs that are 
identified as “temporary signs” or exceptions as defined in MTC 18.65.070.

118



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 4/13

a. “Freestanding sign” as regulated by these guidelines shall include any sign attached to or
supported from the ground and not attached to any building.

b. “Temporary sign” shall mean any banner or advertising display with or without frames
intended to be displayed for a period of less than 15 days. Maximum total sign space not to
exceed 15 square feet and no more than two permits per business per year may be issued.

c. “Sandwich board or A-frame sign” shall mean any sign of a nonpermanent nature which is
a type of advertisement composed of two boards (holding a message or graphic) and being
set up (for example next to a store advertising its goods) in a triangle shape, hinged along
the top.

d. “Projecting sign,” as regulated by these guidelines, shall include any sign, which is
attached to a building or other structure and extends beyond the line of said building or
structure.

e. “Wall sign,” as regulated by these guidelines, shall include all flat signs with projecting
letters attached to a wall, or signs with letters painted directly upon a wall, or painted sign
board attached to a wall.

f. “Development identification sign,” as regulated by these guidelines, shall include any sign
at the entrance/exit to a commercial development to identify the development name and
logo only, and not attached to any building.

g. “Directory sign” is a sign that identifies the names and locations of tenants in a multi-
tenant building or in a development made up of a group of buildings. A directory sign may
also be a sign that identifies the development or building which the group of
businesses/tenants occupy.

2. “Location” shall mean the lot or premises upon which the sign may be permitted.

3. “Display” shall mean to exhibit any item or items on the interior or exterior, for the purpose of
attracting people for business. [Ord. 2008-04 § 2; Ord. 2003-05 § 1; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-
3-5]

18.65.060 Permits required.
Other than the exceptions listed in MTC 18.65.070, temporary signs, and repair and maintenance of 
existing conforming signs, it shall be unlawful for any person to place, erect, repair, alter, relocate, or 
retain within the town of Mesilla any sign or‘ other advertising structure without first obtaining a review

119



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 5/13

and recommendation by the planning, zoning and historical appropriateness commission and a permit
approved by the Mesilla board of trustees. [Ord. 2008-04 § 3; Ord. 2005-06 § 1; Ord. 94-08; prior code
§ 11-3-6]

18.65.070 Exceptions.
The provisions and regulations of these guidelines shall not apply to temporary signs and the following
signs; provided however, the number of exception signs does not exceed two for each business or use
(with the exception of subsection (G) of this section) and said signs do not deviate radically from
standards set forth herein:

A. Real estate signs not exceeding six square feet in area which advertise the sale, rental, or lease of
the premises upon which said signs are located.

B. One professional name plate not exceeding one square foot in area.

C. One bulletin board not over eight square feet in area for public, charitable, or religious institutions
when the same are located on the premises of said institutions.

D. Signs denoting the developer, architect, engineer, or contractor when placed on work under
construction and when not exceeding 12 square feet in area.

E. An occupational sign denoting only the name and profession of an occupant in a commercial
building, public institution, or dwelling, and not exceeding two square feet in area.

F. Memorial signs or tablets, names of buildings and date of erection when cut into any masonry
surface or when constructed of bronze or other incombustible materials.

G. Traffic or other municipal signs, legal notices, railroad crossing signs, danger, and such temporary,
emergency, or other nonadvertising signs as may be approved by the Mesilla board of trustees.

H. Agricultural signs may be permitted where crops are grown; provided, they do not exceed 15
square feet in area in RA and RF zones and six square feet in area for all other zones and only
advertise farm products for sale, the majority of which are grown on the premises.

I. Political signs supporting a candidate or candidates for public office; provided, that it is placed no
more than 30 days prior to the pertinent election and does not exceed four feet by eight feet in size.
Political signs shall be removed no later than seven days following an election.

120



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 6/13

-. Occupants may place displays or descriptions of their merchandise or services behind the glass of 
windows or doors. Any business on the plaza must not occupy more than one-third of the glass area 
with displays or descriptions.

..Parking, directional or OPEN/CLOSED signs which do not exceed two square feet in area.

/. Cottage industries signs; provided, that only one unlighted sign be placed, having a maximum area 
of 10 square feet.

0. House signs that warn of safety hazards, “Private Drive,” “No Parking” or family name signs; 
provided, that they are not larger than one square foot.

1.Signs of historical significance.

2. Temporary directional signs for nonprofit organizations guiding patrons to functions approved by 
the board of trustees; provided, the sign does not exceed eight square feet. [Ord. 2008-04 § 4; Ord. 
2005-06 § 2; Ord. 2003-05 § 2; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-7]

3.     6KRUW�WHUP UHQWDO QDPH XQGHU � VTXDUH IHHW.

18.65.080 Application to erect a sign.
Application to erect a sign shall be made upon forms provided by the Mesilla Town Hall and shall
contain, or have attached thereto the following information:

A. Name, address, and telephone number of applicant.

B. Location of building, structure, or lot upon which the sign is attached or erected.

C. Position of the sign, in relation to other signs, lot lines or other building.

D. A complete dimensioned scale drawing with full description of size, material, texture and/or finish
lettering and graphics to be used.

E. Name of person, firm, corporation or association erecting structure.

F. Written consent from the owner of the building, structure, or land to which or on which the structure
is to be erected. [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-8]

18.65.090 Permit issued if application is in order.
When the proposed sign is in compliance with all the requirements of these guidelines and all other
laws and ordinances of the town, the permit may be issued administratively by the duly authorized
representative for repair and maintenance of existing signs, temporary signs or sandwich board signs

121



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 7/13

and may be issued following the recommendation of the planning, zoning and historical 
appropriateness commission, and approval of the board of trustees for all other signs that are in 
compliance with the requirements of these guidelines and all other laws and ordinances of the town. If 
the work authorized under a sign permit has not been completed within six months after date of 
issuance, the permit shall become null and void. The application must be acted upon by the board of 
trustees within 75 days from the date of application. [Ord. 2008-04 § 5; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-
9]

18.65.100 Permit fees.
Every applicant after being granted a permit shall pay to the town of Mesilla a fee of $2.00 per square 
foot for the permitted sign. The maximum fee for any sign shall be $50.00. No fee shall be assessed 
for signs listed under exceptions or temporary signs. [Ord. 2008-04 § 6; Ord. 2005-06 § 3; Ord. 94-08; 
prior code § 11-3-10]

18.65.110 Inspection.
The Mesilla board of trustees, or authorized designated representative, shall inspect as they deem 
necessary each sign regulated by these guidelines for the purpose of ascertaining that the sign 
conforms with the approved sign permit. [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-11]

18.65.120 Obstruction.
No signs shall be erected, relocated or maintained so as to prevent free ingress or egress at any door, 
window, or fire escape.

No sign or other advertising structure as regulated by these guidelines shall be erected in the 30-foot 
clear sight triangle of any street or in such a manner as to obstruct free and clear vision; or at any 
location where, by reason of the position, shape, or color, it may interfere with or obstruct the view of, 
or be confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal or device; or which makes use of the words
“STOP,” “DANGER” or any other word, phrase, symbol, or character in such manner as to interfere 
with, mislead or confuse traffic. Signs shall also conform to the sight distance of MTC 18.60.340, Wall, 
fence or hedge. [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-12]

18.65.130 Temporary signs.
A. A business may have a temporary sign for a period of 15 days. The temporary sign shall be no
larger than 15 square feet in area. Each business may have up to two temporary signs per year.

B. Temporary signs may be administratively approved by community development staff pursuant to
guidelines established by the board of trustees by adoption of a resolution. [Ord. 2008-04 § 7; Ord.
2005-06 § 4; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-13]

122



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 8/13

18.65.135 Sandwich board or A-frame signs.
A. A sandwich board or A-frame type sign may be permitted for a business establishment. Such sign
shall be located on the premises where the business is located, and shall be nonpermanent in nature,
brought inside when the business closes for the day. This sign shall be no larger than six square feet
in area.

B. Sandwich board signs will be allowed for a three-month trial period upon approval of the ordinance
codified in this section by the board of trustees. They are only allowed in the Commercial (C) zone and
at the Town Hall. [Ord. 2008-04 § 8]

18.65.140 Wall signs.
A. Wall Sign Area.

1. Within the Historical Commercial (H-C) zone, the wall sign area, on any given house or
building, shall in no case exceed 10 percent of any wall area including apertures or 15 square
feet, whichever is less. Dimensions of painted signs or graphics with no frame shall be
determined by measuring the extent of the painted sign or graphic horizontally and vertically and
calculating the area.

2. Within the Commercial (C) zone, the wall sign area on any given house or building shall in no
case exceed 10 percent of any wall area including apertures or 25 square feet, whichever is less.
Dimensions of painted signs or graphics with no frame shall be determined by measuring the
extent of the painted sign or graphic horizontally and vertically and calculating the area.

B. No wall sign shall be permitted to be more than six inches thick. All wall signs shall be safely and
securely attached to the building wall. [Ord. 2008-04 § 9; Ord. 2003-05 § 3; Ord. 2000-02 § 1; Ord. 94-
08; prior code § 11-3-14]

18.65.150 Projecting signs.
A. No projecting sign may rise above the level of the first story of the building to which it is attached.
All projecting signs must be at least seven feet above sidewalk or ground level, and must be located
within the central one-third of the facade length so as not to obstruct neighboring signs.

B. Projecting signs shall be limited in area as follows:

1. A maximum of four feet projecting from the wall of the building;

2. A maximum of eight square feet of total sign space including frame. Both sides of a projecting
sign may be used for advertisement.

123



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 9/13

C. The supporting structure of any projecting sign must be of adequate strength so as to have no need
for guy-wires or wire reinforcement. [Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-15]

18.65.160 Freestanding signs.
A. A freestanding sign (ground-based or post) may be permitted where a business establishment is set
back from a street alignment of building facades more than 10 feet. A business establishment thus set
back, in addition to the signs permitted upon the building itself, may maintain a freestanding sign of
not more than 15 square feet in area including the frame but not the supports, and such sign must
relate to the conduct of the business within. If a building has an unencumbered front setback of at
least 25 feet, a two-face freestanding sign with a maximum of 15 square feet of area on each face,
sign dimensions no greater than six feet in any dimension will be permitted; provided, it relates to the
business conducted on the premises.

B. The bottom of freestanding signs supported by posts, which are not within two feet of the ground
shall not be less than seven feet above the ground level.

C. For freestanding ground-based signs, the wall of a freestanding ground-based sign shall have a
maximum square footage of 15 square feet for the Historical Commercial (H-C) zone and 25 square
feet for the General Commercial (GC) zone. The height of a ground-based sign will be no more than
four feet high. The ground-based signs shall also be required to have building permits for the structure
complying with any building code requirements, clear sight triangle requirements or any other
applicable codes or regulations.

D. All freestanding signs with posts shall be securely constructed, and erected upon posts extending
at least three feet below the surface of the ground. All wood post parts below ground level shall be
treated to protect them from moisture by an approved method.

E. No freestanding sign or any part thereof shall be more than 15 feet above the level of the street
which the sign faces, or above the adjoining ground level, if such ground is higher than the street
level.

F. All parts of a freestanding sign shall be two feet inside the property line. [Ord. 2006-01 § 1; Ord.
2003-05 § 4; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-16]

18.65.165 Directory signs.
A. A directory sign may be permitted for a building or development where there is more than one
business or tenant. A directory sign may be a wall sign, projecting sign, or freestanding sign, provided
the sign complies with all requirements for the type of sign.

124



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 10/13

B. A directory sign shall be limited to 15 square feet in area for signs located in the Historical
Commercial (H-C zone) zone and 25 square feet in area for signs located in the Commercial (C) zone.

C. All directory signs shall be located on the premises where the businesses are located.

D. A directory sign may list all businesses or only the building or development name.

E. Each business may have one individual sign in addition to the identification on the directory sign, in
accordance with the sign regulations and all other laws and ordinances. [Ord. 2008-04 § 10]

18.65.170 Development identification signs.
A development identification sign may be permitted at the entrance/exit to a commercial development
to identify the development name and logo only.

A. The structure of a development identification sign shall be no larger than 48 square feet in size, and
have a height no higher than four feet.

B. The actual sign portion of the development identification sign shall not exceed 25 square feet for
the Commercial (C) zone, or 15 square feet for the Historic Commercial (H-C) zone. Area of the actual
sign shall be determined by measuring the extent of the painted sign or graphic horizontally and
vertically and calculating the area. [Ord. 2003-05 § 5; prior code § 11-3-17]

18.65.180 Illumination.
A. No signs that flash, blink, revolve, or are otherwise in motion, vary in intensity, or seem to be in 
motion shall be permitted.

B. No sign shall have any illumination outside of the face of the letters, other than goose neck lighting; 
there shall be no neon or similar lighting, exposed bulbs, or any moving parts or lights that give effect 
of moving parts.

C. Goose neck lights with reflectors shall be permitted on projecting signs, freestanding signs and wall 
signs, provided the illumination falls upon the sign so as to prevent glare upon the street or adjacent 
property.

'. Nonblinking electric signs including neon signs may be placed inside windows and glass doors 
provided their proportions are not in excess of the window area so allowed in MTC 18.65.070(J). 
Interior electric signs must be approved by the board of trustees or their designated representative.
[Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-18]

125



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 11/13

18.65.190 Lettering and coloring.
All letters, figures, characters or representations in cut-out or irregular form maintained in conjunction
with, attached to or superimposed upon any sign shall be safely and securely built or attached to the
sign structure. Color of signs must be approved at the time of application for sign permit.

In Mesilla, signs shall not detract from the historic cultural attraction of the town; therefore, approval of
color and design are left to the board of trustees or their designated representatives. [Ord. 2003-05
§ 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-19]

18.65.200 What may be advertised.
Exterior signs shall advertise a bona fide business conducted in or on said premises, and the
advertising of products shall not exceed 25 percent of the area of such sign. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord.
94-08; prior code § 11-3-20]

18.65.210 Maintenance.
The plot where the sign is located is to be maintained by the owner thereof in a safe, clean, sanitary,
inoffensive condition, and free and clear of all obnoxious substances, rubbish, and weeds. [Ord. 2003-
05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-21]

18.65.220 Number of permitted signs.
A. A total of two exterior signs may be allowed to each store or bona fide place of business.

B. When more than one business occupies a single building each business will be limited to one sign
plus a space on a directory sign at each entrance. [Ord. 2008-04 § 11; Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08;
prior code § 11-3-22]

18.65.230 Location.
No off-premises signs will be permitted for commercial business. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior
code § 11-3-23]

18.65.240 Miscellaneous.
A. Parking Lots, Etc. Where the nature of a business does not involve a structure on which a sign may
be attached, such as parking lots, freestanding signs are allowed and the same regulations apply.

B. Exterior Commercial Display. The exterior display of items for sale is not permitted on town property
or where the condition endangers the health, welfare and safety of the general public. [Ord. 2003-05
§ 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-24]

18.65.250 Unlawful signs.
126



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 12/13

It shall be unlawful to construct, erect and maintain a sign or other advertising structure in violation of
the provisions and guidelines of this chapter. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-25]

18.65.260 Notice of unlawful signs and abatement.
The town may issue a notice directed to the owner of record of the property on which the unsafe or
unlawful sign occurs, or to the occupant or tenant of the property, or both. The notice shall describe
the violation and shall establish a reasonable time limit for abatement which shall not be less than two
days nor more than 10 days after serving the notice. The notice may be served either personally or by
registered mail at the owner’s or occupant’s last known address. The town shall be held harmless of
all unsafe or unlawful signs. The person who owns the sign shall assume all liability or risk of damage
to persons or property which may arise from an unsafe or unlawful sign and save the town of Mesilla,
its officers and agents harmless from any and all liability which may arise or be incurred from the
erection, construction, or operation of same. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-26]

18.65.270 Complaint.
In the event the owner or occupant of the property where the unsafe or unlawful sign exists has failed,
within the prescribed time, to abate the nuisance, then the town shall file a complaint charging
violation of this with the municipal court. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior code § 11-3-27]

18.65.280 Removal of unsafe or unlawful sign.
Upon the failure of the person to remove or correct the unsafe or unlawful sign, the town shall proceed
to correct or remove the sign and shall prepare a statement of costs incurred. Any and all costs shall
constitute a lien against property upon which the unsafe or unlawful sign existed, or against personal
property of the owner of the unsafe or unlawful sign, which lien shall be filed, proven and collected as
provided by law.

Alternatively, the town attorney may bring a civil action by verified complaint in the name of the town,
by any public officer, in the municipal court against any person who shall create or maintain an unsafe
or unlawful sign.

When judgment is against the defendant in an action to remove an unsafe or unlawful sign, he shall
be adjudged to pay all court cost and a reasonable fee for the town attorney. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord.
94-08; prior code § 11-3-28]

18.65.290 Injunctions.
The board of trustees or their representatives, when a violation exists as set forth in this chapter, may
request an action in the name of the municipality to perpetually enjoin all persons from maintaining or

127



6/14/23, 2:00 PM Chapter 18.65 SIGNS*

https://www.codepublishing.com/NM/Mesilla/#!/Mesilla18/Mesilla1865.html#18.65 13/13

permitting the unsafe or unlawful use and to abate the same. [Ord. 2003-05 § 6; Ord. 94-08; prior
code § 11-3-29]

The Mesilla Town Code is current through Ordinance 2021-03, passed December 30, 2021.

Disclaimer: The town clerk’s office has the official version of the Mesilla Town Code. Users should contact the 
town clerk’s office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

Town Website: http://www.mesillanm.gov/
Town Telephone: (575) 524-3262

Code Publishing Company

128

http://www.mesillanm.gov/
https://www.codepublishing.com/



